
70 Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 1.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

1.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis, adjusted for the fair valuing of 
certain assets and liabilities. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated and separate !nancial statements.

The following standards and interpretations are effective for the current !nancial year but did not have an impact on the Group 
(which includes the consolidated and separate !nancial statements) for the year ended 30 June 2012:

  IFRS 1 – Amendment to IFRS 1 – Severe hyperin�ation and removal of �xed dates for �rst-time adopters. 

  IFRS 7– Amendment to IFRS 7 – Transfers of �nancial assets.

  IAS 24 – Related party disclosures (revised).

  IFRIC 14 – Amendment to IFRIC 14 – Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement.

  May 2010 improvements to IFRS.

The !nancial statements are presented in South African rands and all values are rounded to the nearest million (R’000 000), except 
where otherwise indicated.

1.3 Judgements and estimates

The preparation of !nancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a signi!cant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next !nancial year, relates to the following:

Inventory obsolescence provision

The Group determines whether there is obsolete inventory on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the expected future 
saleability of inventory items based on historical experience, an analysis of market and fashion trends and a review of the ageing of 
the inventory items. Details pertaining to carrying values and write-offs are provided in note 18.

Impairment of land and buildings

The Group determines whether any of the land and buildings are impaired at each reporting date. This requires consideration of 
the current and future economic and trading environment; available valuation information and the physical state of the land and 
buildings, to ascertain if there are indications of impairment to those owned by the Group. No impairments were recorded during 
the current !nancial year, and carrying values are disclosed in note 13.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 
at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity 
instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 6. The carrying value of the share option reserve at year end is 
R9 million (2011: R5 million) and expense recognised for the year is R4 million (2011: R11 million).

1.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated !nancial statements incorporate the results and !nancial position of the Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, 
the Share Incentive Trust, the BEE Trust and its joint venture interests.
Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has the 
power to exercise control over the operations. The results of subsidiaries are included from the effective dates of acquisition, being 
the dates on which the Group obtains control, until the dates that control ceases. The identi!able assets and liabilities of companies 
acquired are assessed and included in the statement of !nancial position at their fair values as at the effective dates of acquisition.
All intragroup balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and dividends are 
eliminated in full.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.4 Basis of consolidation (continued)

All companies in the Group maintain consistent accounting policies and have the same year ends.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of pro!t or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately 
in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of !nancial position, separately from 
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a de!cit balance. 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it:
   derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
   derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
 derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
 recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
 recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
 recognises any surplus or de!cit in pro!t or loss; and
  reclassi!es the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to pro!t or loss or retaining 
earnings, as appropriate.

Joint ventures are those enterprises over which the Group exercises joint control in terms of a contractual agreement. Investments 
in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by way of the proportionate consolidation method whereby the Group’s proportional 
share of the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash "ows of joint ventures are combined on a line-by-line basis, with similar 
items in the !nancial statements of the Group. Adjustments are made in the Group’s consolidated !nancial statements to eliminate 
the Group’s share of intragroup balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the 
Group and its jointly controlled entities. The results of joint ventures are included from the effective dates of their acquisition and up 
to the effective dates of their disposal, or a date on which joint control ceases.

1.5 Business combinations and goodwill

New acquisitions are included in the Group’s !nancial statements using the acquisition method whereby the assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The purchase consideration is allocated on the basis of fair values at the date 
of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost and represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identi!able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill carried in the 
statement of !nancial position is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently, if  events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to bene!t from the 
acquisition. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which the goodwill 
relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
Where goodwill forms part of the cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of, is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal of that operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained.

1.6 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures (as accounted for on an entity level within the Group)

Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and 
including acquisition charges associated with the investment. Investments are carried at cost, less impairment.
The carrying value of the subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment at every reporting date. Where necessary, the value of the 
investment is impaired to the greater of the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use.
The difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of investments is charged to pro!t or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

1.7 Treasury shares

Shares in Italtile Limited held by the Group are classi!ed in equity attributable to equity holders of the parent as treasury shares. 
These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. Dividends received on treasury 
shares are eliminated on consolidation. No gain or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s listed shares is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Consideration received or paid with regards to treasury shares is recognised 
in equity.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Foreign currencies

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements are presented in rands, which is the Group’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the !nancial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency rates prevailing 
at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date.

All differences are taken to pro!t or loss with the exception of all monetary items that provide an effective hedge for a net investment 
in a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the net investment, at which time 
they are recognised in the income statement. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary 
items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The Group has investments in foreign subsidiary companies which are classi!ed as foreign operations with functional currencies 
that are different to that of the Group. The !nancial statements of these subsidiaries are translated for incorporation into the Group 
!nancial statements as follows:

   Assets and liabilities at the rates ruling at the reporting date.

   Statement of comprehensive income items at a weighted average rate for the period.

   Cash "ow items at a weighted average rate for the period.

   Equity items at the appropriate historical rate.

Exchange differences are taken directly to a foreign currency translation reserve which is disclosed in other comprehensive income 
in the statement of comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in other 
comprehensive income, relating to that particular foreign entity, is recognised in pro!t or loss.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

All buildings, including investment properties, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

A valuation to open market value for existing use is done on an annual basis for disclosure and impairment purposes.

All plant and equipment, excluding aircraft, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

Aircraft are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are done with suf!cient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amount at the reporting date does not differ materially from its fair value. Any surplus arising on revaluation is recognised within 
other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a previous de!cit recognised in pro!t or loss. Any de!cit arising 
on revaluation is recognised in pro!t or loss, except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The asset revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings on derecognition of the underlying asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis estimated to write each asset down to estimated residual value over the term 
of its useful life at the following annual rates:

   Buildings 2%

   Plant and machinery 20% to 25%

   Vehicles 20% to 25%

    Computer equipment 20% to 33,3%

   Furniture and !ttings 16,6% to 33,3%

   Aircraft 20%

Depreciation commences when the asset is available for use. The useful lives, methods of depreciation and residual values are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each !nancial year end. Land is not depreciated.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash in"ows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash "ows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that re"ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks speci!c to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.
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1.9 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. In addition, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic bene!ts are expected from 
its use or disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and the net 
disposal proceeds and are taken to the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised. 

1.10 Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less the estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined on a weighted average 
cost method and excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

1.11 Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside pro!t or loss is recognised outside pro!t or loss. Current tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided on the liability method, on recognised temporary differences at tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, other than in the circumstances described below. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that taxable pro!t will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward or unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, other than in the circumstances described below. Furthermore, deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 
The carrying amount is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suf!cient taxable pro!t will be available to allow the 
bene!t of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes 
probable that suf!cient taxable pro!t will be available.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where they arise from goodwill arising on acquisition or from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting pro!t nor taxable pro!t or loss.
Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside pro!t or loss is recognised outside pro!t or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Secondary tax on companies (STC)

STC is provided in respect of expected dividend payments, net of dividends received or receivable, and is recognised as a taxation 
charge in the year in which the dividend is declared. Where applicable, non-resident shareholders’ taxation is provided in respect 
of foreign dividends receivable. In prior !nancial periods, to the extent that it was probable that entities within the Group with STC 
credits would declare dividends of its own against which unused STC credits could be utilised, a deferred tax asset was raised.

Offset of tax assets and liabilities 

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

Value added tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

   where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the VAT 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense items, as applicable; and

   receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of !nancial position.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of speci!c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in pro!t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when 
the signi!cant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer. It excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect 
taxes.

Revenue from !xed property rental is turnover-related and recognised when the sale of goods, takes place.

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis which takes into account the effective yield on the asset over the period it is 
expected to be held.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Revenue from franchise income and royalties is recognised on the accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the agreement.

Flight income is recognised when the services are delivered. It excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

1.14 Employee bene!ts

Retirement bene�ts

Defined-contribution plan

Current contributions to the retirement bene!t plan are the best estimate of current service costs and are charged against income 
as services are rendered by the employee.

1.15 Equity participation plan

Selected employees, including directors, of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options, whereby they render 
services in exchange for rights over shares. The cost of share options is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black-Schöles option-pricing model, further details of which are given in 
note 6. In valuing the share options, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price 
of the shares of Italtile Limited.

The cost of the share options is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, over the vesting period 
ending on the date on which the performance conditions are ful!lled and the employees become fully entitled to take up the share 
options. The cumulative expense recognised for share options granted at each reporting date until the vesting date, re"ects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of share option grants that will ultimately vest in the opinion of the 
directors of the Group, at that date. This is based on the best available estimate of the number of share options that will ultimately 
vest. No expense is recognised for share options that do not ultimately vest.

Where the terms of the share options are modi!ed, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modi!ed. 
In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transactions, as a result of the modi!cation, as measured 
at the date of modi!cation.

Where a share option is forfeited prior to vesting, any expense previously recognised for the award is reversed immediately. Where 
an award is cancelled, other than an award cancelled by forfeiture when the vesting conditions are not satis!ed, it is treated as 
if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised, is recognised immediately. If a new share option 
is substituted for the cancelled share option, and designated as a replacement share option on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new share option grant are treated as if they were a modi!cation of the original grant, as described above.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is re"ected as a share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share (refer to 
note 10).
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1.16 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of !nancial position comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale 
investments, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Classi�cation

The Group’s !nancial assets and !nancial liabilities are classi!ed as follows:

Description of asset/liability Classi!cation

Investments Available-for-sale

Loan to BEE Trust Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings Financial liability carried at amortised cost

Trade and other payables Financial liability carried at amortised cost

Measurement

All !nancial instruments are recognised at the time the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair values. Directly attributable transaction costs are included in the fair value, unless 
it is classi!ed as fair value through pro!t or loss. The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated 
from host contracts when the Group !rst becomes party to the contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms 
of the contract that signi!cantly modi!es the cash "ows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

Investments that are considered available-for-sale !nancial assets are carried at fair value, except for unlisted equity investments 
which are carried at cost as a reliable measure of fair value cannot be determined. All movements are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, until the investment is derecognised or determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in pro!t or loss. Objective evidence of impairment would 
include a signi!cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its carrying value. If an available-for-sale asset 
is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current 
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, is transferred from other 
comprehensive income to pro!t or loss. Reversals of impairment recognised previously in respect of equity instruments classi!ed 
as available-for-sale are not recognised in pro!t or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents that have a !xed maturity date are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest 
rates.

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative !nancial assets with !xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, trade and other receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when trade and other receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well 
as through the amortisation process. In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made where there is objective 
evidence (such as probability of insolvency or signi!cant !nancial dif!culties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect 
all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectable. If there is objective evidence 
that an impairment loss on other receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash "ows (excluding future expected 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the !nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in pro!t or loss.

Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in pro!t or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Derivative �nancial instruments

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to manage its risks associated with foreign currency "uctuations. It is the Group’s 
policy not to trade in derivative !nancial instruments. Details of the Group’s !nancial risk management objectives and policies are 
set out in note 33.

All derivative !nancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Any gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative !nancial instrument to fair value is 
recognised immediately in pro!t or loss.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity pro!les.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.16 Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of �nancial instruments

Financial assets

A !nancial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a !nancial asset or part of a group of similar !nancial assets) is derecognised when:

   the rights to receive cash "ows from the asset have expired;

     the Group retains the right to receive cash "ows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

    the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash "ows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash "ow from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay.

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash settled option or similar 
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that 
the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar provision) 
on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities

A !nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing !nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender of substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modi!ed, such an exchange or modi!cation is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Offset of �nancial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are set off against each other where there is an intention to settle the amounts simultaneously, and a 
currently enforceable legal right of set-off exists.

1.17 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date, of whether the ful!lment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a speci!c asset or assets, or the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset.

Group as a lessee

Assets leased in terms of agreements, which are considered to be !nance leases, are capitalised. Leases are classi!ed as !nance 
leases where substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an asset are transferred from the lessor to the 
Group, as lessee. Assets subject to !nance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, 
if lower, at the minimum lease payments, with the related lease obligation recognised at the same value. Capitalised leased assets 
are depreciated at the same rates and on the same basis as equivalent owned assets. Should there be no reasonable expectation 
that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the depreciation period is the shorter of the estimated useful life of 
the asset and the lease term. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (ie the higher 
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell), it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, based on the value in use 
or fair value less costs to sell. Lease !nance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases, using the effective interest rate 
method and re"ected in !nance cost in the statement of comprehensive income.

All other leases are treated as operating leases and the relevant rentals are charged to pro!t or loss on a straight-line basis.

Group as a lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and bene!ts of ownership of the asset, are classi!ed as 
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period 
in which they are earned.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.18 Dividends paid

Dividends paid are recognised as appropriations of reserves in the statement of changes in equity at the dates of declaration.

1.19 Investment in associate

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has 
signi!cant in"uence.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of !nancial position at cost plus post acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of comprehensive income re"ects the share of the results of operations of the associate in pro!t or loss. Where there 
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses 
this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The share of pro!t of an associate is included in pro!t or loss. This is the pro!t attributable to equity holders of the associate and 
therefore is pro!t after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The !nancial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 
loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment  
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in pro!t  
or loss.

Upon loss of signi!cant in"uence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair value. 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of signi!cant in"uence and the fair value of the retaining 
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in pro!t or loss.

1.20 Standards issued but not yet effective

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s !nancial statements are listed below. This listing is 
of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends 
to adopt those standards when they become effective. The Group expects that adoption of these standards, amendments and 
interpretations in most cases not to have any signi!cant impact on the Group’s !nancial position or performance in the period of 
initial application but additional disclosures will be required. In cases where it will have an impact the Group is still assessing the 
possible impact.

IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation (Amendment)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 and requires that items of other comprehensive 
income be grouped in items that would be reclassi!ed to pro!t or loss at a future point and items that will never be reclassi!ed. This 
amendment only effects the presentation in the !nancial statements.

IAS 12 – Income Taxes (Amendment)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and introduces a rebuttable presumption that 
deferred tax on investment properties measured at fair value will be recognised on a sale basis, unless an entity has a business 
model that would indicate the investment property will be consumed in the business. If consumed, a use basis should be adopted. 
This amendment will have no impact on the Group after initial application.

IAS 19 – Post Employee Bene�ts (Amendment)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. There are changes to post employee 
bene!ts in that pension surpluses and de!cits are to be recognised in full (no more deferral mechanisms) and all actuarial gains and 
losses recognised in other comprehensive income as they occur with no recycling to pro!t or loss. Past service costs as a result of 
plan amendments are to be recognised immediately.

Short and long-term bene!ts will now be distinguished based on the expected timing of settlement, rather than employee entitlement.

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements

IAS 27, as revised, is limited to the accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate !nancial 
statements of the investor. The revision is a consequence of the issue of IFRS 10, and the standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.20 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The revised standard caters for joint ventures (now accounted for by applying the equity accounting method) in addition to 
prescribing the accounting for investments in associates. The revision is a consequence of the issue of IFRS 10 and 11, and the 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IAS 32 – Financial instruments: Presentation (Amendment)

The amendment clari!es the meaning of the entity currently having a legally enforceable right to set off !nancial assets and !nancial 
liabilities as well as the application of IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as clearing houses). The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and will have no impact on the Group.

IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures (Amendment)

The amendment provides additional disclosures with regards to offsetting !nancial assets and !nancial liabilities (similar to 
current US GAAP requirements), is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will have no impact on 
the Group.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classi�cation and Measurement

IFRS 9 as issued re"ects the !rst phase of the IASBs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classi!cation and 
measurement of !nancial assets and liabilities as de!ned in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015. In subsequent phases, the Board will address impairment and hedge accounting. The adoption of the !rst 
phase of IFRS 9 will primarily have an effect on the classi!cation and measurement of the Group’s !nancial assets and liabilities. The 
Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 9, however, the impact of adoption depends on the assets and liabilities 
held by the Group at the date of adoption, it is not practical to quantify the effect.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for 
consolidated !nancial statements. It also includes the issues raised in SIC 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 
establishes a single control model with a new de!nition of control that applies to all entities. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The changes will require management to make signi!cant judgement to determine 
which entities are controlled and therefore required to be consolidated by the parent. Therefore, IFRS 10 may change which entities 
are within the Group.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures and SIC 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. 
IFRS 11 uses the principle of control in IFRS 10 to determine joint control which may change whether joint control exists. IFRS 
11 addresses only two forms of joint arrangements; joint operations where the entity recognises its assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses and/or its relative share of those items and joint ventures which is accounted for on the equity method (no more 
proportional consolidation). The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and the impact on 
the Group can not be determined at this point.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

IFRS 12 includes all the disclosures that were previously required relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities as well as a number of new disclosures. An entity is now required to disclose the judgements 
made to determine whether it controls another entity. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. 

The Group will need to consider the new de!nition of control to determine which entities are controlled or jointly controlled and then 
to account for them under the new standards. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for all fair value measurement (!nancial and non-!nancial assets and liabilities) when fair 
value is required or permitted by IFRS. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value but rather describes 
how to measure fair value under IFRS when it is permitted or required by IFRS. There are also consequential amendments to other 
standards to delete speci!c requirements for determining fair value. The Group will need to consider the new requirements to 
determine fair values going forward. IFRS 13 will be effective for the Group 1 July 2013.

The Group and Company are still in the process of assessing the impact of the Annual Improvements Project issued in May 2012.
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2. DEFINITIONS

2.1 System-wide turnover

Aggregated turnover of the Group-owned and franchised stores.

2.2 Cost of sales

Cost of sales is calculated as the weighted average cost of inventory, including distribution costs incurred in bringing the inventory 
to the retail locations together with stock losses. 

2.3 Sales and distribution costs

Sales and distribution costs include costs incurred in bringing inventory to the retail locations and ensuring the saleability thereof.

2.4 General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses are those overhead expenses that have not been allocated to inventory valuation.

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalent amounts comprise cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks and highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insigni!cant changes in value.

2.6 Treasury shares

Shares in Italtile Limited held by the entities in the Group.

2.7 Cash-generating unit

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identi!able group of assets that generates cash in"ows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash in"ows from other assets or groups of assets.

 
COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

3. REVENUE

Total revenue comprises:

Turnover 1 845 1 521

Rental income 101 91

7 7 Finance revenue 46 37

135 — Dividend income from subsidiaries

Royalty income from franchising 89 78

Other franchise income 32 27

Flight income — 1

4 5 Management fee

146 12 2 113 1 755

Turnover represents net sales, excluding value 
added tax and intercompany sales.

All the rental income pertains to properties that 
are leased to franchised stores. These rentals 
are turnover related and can therefore not be 
predetermined.

4. COST OF SALES

Cost of sales consists largely of the cost of 
inventories recognised as an expense. 1 113 895
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

5. TRADING PROFIT

Trading pro!t is stated after taking into account 
the following items:

Auditors’ remuneration

# # – Audit fee 3 3

# # – Expenses # #

# # 3 3

Depreciation

Owned and leased

– Buildings 11 8

– Plant and machinery 7 7

– Vehicles 3 2

– Aircraft — #

– Computer equipment 5 3

– Furniture and !ttings 20 25

46 45

Operating lease payments

– Properties 15 15

All the operating leases pertain to properties 
that are rented and then sublet to Group-owned 
and franchised stores. The subrentals are based 
on 6,3% of turnover and can therefore not be 
predetermined. At current levels they exceed 
abovementioned obligations.

Contingent lease payments were determined, based 
on escalated contractual rentals charged by third 
parties. Certain leases have renewal terms. There 
are no trading restrictions on any of the leases.

Total of future minimum contracted operating 
lease payments:

 Within 1 year 7 11

 Within 2 – 5 years 11 8

 Later than 5 years 2 2

20 21

Directors’ emoluments

Refer to pages 62 and 63 of the directors’ report 
for detailed disclosures.

Employee remuneration

–  Salaries and wages 115 93

  – Pro!t share 15 22

– Contributions to retirement bene!ts 10 8

140 123

Other

Pro!t on sale of property, plant and equipment 1 2

#Less than R1 million.

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Incentive Trust

In terms of the Share Incentive Trust, shares are offered on a combined option and deferred sale basis. Options vest over a period of !ve 
years. An agreement of deferred sale is automatically constituted on acceptance of the offer. All shares must be taken up by way of a 
purchase and delivery by no later than !ve years after the grant date. The exercise price of the option is not less than the market value of 
the ordinary shares on the day prior to the date of grant and the option is exercisable provided that the participant has remained in the 
Group’s employ until the option vests. Should the participant resign before these vesting dates, the options will be forfeited. An exception 
may be made in the case of termination of employment as a result of death or retirement. Options are settled in equity once exercised and 
subsequently taken up.

In terms of a resolution passed at a shareholders’ meeting on 12 January 1993, the directors are authorised to make available 
for the purposes of the scheme a maximum aggregate number of 136  470  068 ordinary shares (2010: 136 470 068), representing  
13% (2010: 13%) of the issued share capital. The scheme exists for the directors and senior management of the Company with a limit of 
15 400 000 shares which any one participant may acquire.

The following assumptions were used in valuing the various option grants on grant date:

Expected volatility 18% to 24%
Risk-free interest rate 8,19% to 8,54%
Expected dividend yield 1,90% to 2,07%
Expected life (years) 5,5

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and expected future trends and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns 
that may occur. The expected volatility of 18% to 24% reflects the assumption that the historical volatilities of 18% to 24% are indicative 
of future trends.

No share options were granted over the year to 30 June 2012 (2011: nil). Included in the expenses in the profit and loss for the year is 
Rnil (2011: Rnil) relating to the current year share option expense for the Share Incentive Trust.

All outstanding allocations were fully redeemed in 2010, with the redemption of 2 310 000 share allocations at an average subscription 
price of R2,39 per share. There were no further movements in 2011 or 2012.

 Had the participant resigned from the Group prior to the commencement dates as indicated above, the shares for options would not have 
been awarded, payment not required and the options forfeited.

Black Economic Empowerment transaction

The Company issued 88 000 000 shares in terms of a Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE, transaction on 11 February 2008. 
The shares were issued at R4,57 per share, which represented a discount of 17% to the volume weighted average price of the Company’s 
shares over the month of March 2007. The transaction was funded by way of the Company subscribing to preference shares in the 
empowerment vehicles. These preference shares attract dividends at a rate of 70% of the prevailing prime interest rate. Any dividends 
paid on the Company’s shares to the empowerment vehicles will be !rstly used to fund the preference share dividends payable to the 
Company, and then to redeem a portion of the outstanding preference shares.

The BEE partners may not sell or otherwise encumber the shares for a period of seven years, after which the Company will have the pre-
emptive right to reacquire the shares at 83% of the trade weighted average price at which the Company’s shares traded on the JSE during 
the 10-trading days immediately preceding the date of purchase. The Company may force a repurchase of the shares after eight years 
have elapsed, again at 83% of the trade weighted average price at which its shares traded on the JSE during the 10-trading days 
immediately preceding the date of purchase. The cash proceeds from this sale will be used to settle any remaining obligations in terms of 
the preference shares.

For further details on this transaction, refer to the circular dated 20 June 2007.

The economic substance of this transaction is that the BEE partners have received an equity-settled call option over the Italtile Limited 
shares, which matures in eight years’ time. The cost of the transaction has been valued accordingly by using a Monte Carlo simulation 
model and using the following inputs:

Share price R3,03

Exercise price R4,57

Volatility 28%

Time to maturity 8 years

Risk-free interest rate 9,89%

Prime interest rate 13,21%

Dividend yield 2%

The model is not particularly sensitive to the risk-free and prime interest rate assumptions, as any change in the one would generally be 
offset by a change in the other. The predicted volatility is based on an analysis of the historic Italtile Limited share price volatility, over the 
last seven years.

The total cost of the transaction was determined as R25 million, which was recognised in the 2008 !nancial year (no additional costs have 
subsequently been recognised).

As disclosed in the directors’ report on page 64, amendments to the BEE transaction were approved by shareholders after the 2012 
!nancial year end.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Long-term incentive plan

During the 2010 !nancial year, a long-term incentive plan was adopted by the Company, in accordance with which selected directors and 
employees of the Group are entitled to receive notional share awards. These awards vest as follows: 25% after three years, and 75% after 
!ve years. The exercise price is determined in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The plan has been classi!ed as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and has been fair valued using a modi!ed  
Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the notional awards on grant dates:

Grant date 14 August 2009 1 October 2010

Notional share award 4 850 000 2 200 000

Share price on grant date R3,35 R3,70

Interest rate (source: Standard Bank) Zero yield curve (7,06% – 8,36%) Zero yield curve (5,98% – 7,28%)

Dividend R0,11 per share per annum R0,11 per share per annum

The movement in the number of awards during the years is as follows:
Number of awards

2012 2011

At 1 July 4 500 000 4 850 000

Awarded during the year — 2 200 000

Vested and exercised during the year — (2 275 000)

Cancelled during the year — (275 000)

At 30 June 4 500 000 4 500 000

The exercise price of awards exercised during the previous year was R4,12 per award.

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 1,97 years (2011: 2,97 years).

The fair value of the awards granted over the previous year to 30 June 2011 was R7 million. Included in the expenses in the pro!t and 
loss for the year is R3 million (2011: R11 million) relating to the current year share-based payment expense for this scheme.

Share appreciation rights scheme

During the 2011 !nancial year, a share appreciation rights scheme was adopted by the Company, in accordance with which selected 
directors and employees of the Group are entitled to receive notional share awards. These awards vest as follows: 25% after three years, 
and 75% after !ve years. The exercise price is determined in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The plan has been classi!ed as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and has been fair valued using a modi!ed  
Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the notional awards on grant dates:

Grant date 1 October 2010 1 September 2011

Notional share award 500 000 3 050 000

Grant price R3,56 R4,21

Interest rate (source: Standard Bank) Zero yield curve (6,57% – 7,11%) Zero yield curve (5,71% – 6,39%)

Dividend yield 2,66% 2,66%

The movement in the number of awards during the years is as follows:
Number of 

awards

2012

At 1 July —

Awarded during the year 3 550 000

Vested and exercised during the year —

Cancelled during the year —

At 30 June 3 550 000

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 3,62 years.

The fair value of the awards granted over the previous year to 30 June 2012 was R2,4 million. Included in the expenses in the pro!t and 
loss for the year is R0,5 million relating to the current year share-based payment expense for this scheme.
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2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

7. FINANCE REVENUE

Bank interest receivable 12 12

Dividends from cash equivalents 34 25

7 7 Dividend income from special purpose entities

7 7 Total !nance revenue 46 37

8. FINANCE COST

Bank loans and overdraft 24 23

Finance charges payable under !nance leases — 1

Total !nance cost 24 24

9. TAXATION

Current taxation

1 1 – Normal tax (including foreign taxes) 144 117

— — – Deferred tax 2 2

7 9 – Secondary tax on companies 9 11

8 10 155 130

% % Reconciliation of tax rate % %

28,0 28,0 Standard tax rate – South Africa 28,0 28,0

Adjusted for:

(27,8) (22,5) Exempt income (1,7) (1,5)

0,5 5,5
Other differences, including effect of foreign tax 
rates and prior period over/under provisions 0,2 (1,2)

4,9 107,7 Secondary tax on companies 1,7 2,4

5,6 118,7 Effective tax rate 28,2 27,7

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share 
is based on the income attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of R378 million (2011: R321 million).

The calculation of earnings per share is based on 
919 032 041 (2010: 919 995 338) weighted 
average number of shares in issue during the 
period, excluding weighted average treasury 
shares.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is 
based on:

Weighted average number of shares in issue for 
basic earnings per share 919 032 041 919 995 338

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares resulting from 
options outstanding 3 618 139 2 291 715

Weighted average number of shares for diluted 
earnings per share 922 650 180 922 287 053
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Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

11. HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of headline and diluted headline 
earnings per share is based on the income 
attributable to ordinary shareholders – as used in 
the calculation for basic earnings, adjusted in 
terms of Circular 3/2012, “Headline Earnings”.

Reconciliation of headline and diluted headline 

earnings

Basic earnings 378 321

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (2)

 Gross amount (1) (2)

 Taxation # #

  Share attributable to non-controlling 
shareholders — —

Headline and diluted headline earnings 377 319

#Less than R1 million.

Refer to note 10 for further details and calculations 
related to weighted average number of shares and 
diluted weighted average number of shares used 
to calculate headline and diluted headline earnings 
per share.

12a DIVIDENDS PAID IN THE CURRENT YEAR

62 52 Final 2011 – No 90

Paid 2012: 5 cents per share (2011: 5 cents) 55 46

Interim 2012 – No 91

72 62 Paid 2012: 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents) 64 55

134 114 Total – 13 cents per share (2011: 11 cents per share) 119 101

12b DIVIDENDS DECLARED IN RELATION TO 

CURRENT YEAR PROFIT

Interim – No 91

72 62 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents per share) 64 55

Final – No 92

72 62 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents per share) 64 55

144 124 Total – 14 cents per share (2011: 12 cents per share) 128 110
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Land and

buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and

machinery

Rm’s

Vehicles

Rm’s

Computer

equipment

Rm’s

Furniture

and !ttings

Rm’s

Total 

Rm’s

13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2012

Owned and leased

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 953 49 13 33 179 1 227

–  accumulated depreciation (29) (32) (5) (19) (136) (221)

– net book value 924 17 8 14 43 1 006

Current year movements

– additions 124 5 8 7  26 170

– disposals (2) (1) (1) (1) # (5)

– depreciation (11) (7) (3) (5) (20) (46)

– translation 27 1 # 1 # 29

Balance at end of year 1 062 15 12 16 49 1 154

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 1 102 54 18 40 203 1 417

–  accumulated depreciation (40) (39) (6) (24) (154) (263)

– net book value 1 062 15 12 16 49 1 154

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

#Less than R1 million.

 Buildings with a cost of R856 million were valued on 30 June 2011 by independent professional valuers (authorised and registered in terms 
of the Property Valuers Professional Act No 47 of 2000), to a replacement value for existing use of R1,2 billion.

 A register of the Group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the Company’s registered of!ce.

Land and
buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and
machinery

Rm’s
Vehicles

Rm’s
Aircraft

Rm’s

Computer
equipment

Rm’s

Furniture
and !ttings

Rm’s
Total 
Rm’s

2011

Owned and leased

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 868 44 9 31 21 166 1 139

–  accumulated depreciation (21) (27) (3) (1) (17) (118) (187)

– net book value 847 17 6 30 4 48 952

Current year movements

– additions 88 6 5 — 13 23 135

– devaluation — — — (8) — — (8)

– disposals (8) # (1) (22) # (3) (34)

– depreciation (8) (7) (2) # (3) (25) (45)

– translation 5 1 # — # # 6

Balance at end of year 924 17 8 — 14 43 1 006

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 953 49 13 — 33 179 1 227

–  accumulated depreciation (29) (32) (5) — (19) (136) (221)

– net book value 924 17 8 — 14 43 1 006

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

#Less than R1 million.

The aircraft was revalued on 31 January 2011 by the Pilatus Centre Southern Africa, using the information of the Aviation Blue Book.
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Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

14.1 INVESTMENTS

Unlisted

8 8 Investment in subsidiaries

13 9 Equity instruments – at cost 4 4

218 218 Preference shares

239 235 Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments 4 4

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment. A list of subsidiaries 
appears on page 100 .

Unlisted equity instruments have no reliable 
measure of fair value as  there is no active trading 
market for these instruments, therefore these 
investments are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment.

The fair value of the unlisted preference shares 
approximates the carrying amount as these 
instruments attract a "oating rate of interest.

14.2 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

During the previous !nancial year, the Group 
began accounting for an existing investment in 
Ezee Tile, a national manufacturer of adhesive, 
grout and related products, in accordance with the 
equity accounting requirements of IAS 28 – 
Investments in associates. Management is of 
the opinion that signi!cant in"uence over the 
operations of Ezee Tile was attained during the 
previous !nancial year, triggering the requirement 
to apply equity accounting for such.

Cost 15 15

Share of pro!ts, post commencement of equity 
accounting 9 7

24 22

The following tables illustrate the summarised 
!nancial information of the Group’s investment  
in Ezee Tile:

Statement of �nancial position:

Non-current assets 9 6

Current assets 73 66

Non-current liabilities (1) (1)

Current liabilities (34) (23)

Equity 47 48

Statement of comprehensive income:

Turnover 319 238

Pro!t for the year 11 21

Pro!t attributable to ordinary shareholders of  
Italtile Limited 5 8

Less: Dividends (3) (1)

Share of associated companies’ income 2 7
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15. LONG-TERM ASSETS

66 70 Loan to BEE Trust

Lease premiums 24 24

66 70 24 24

In order to raise funds necessary to purchase  
BEE shares (refer to note 6), the Company has 
funded the BEE Trust by way of a loan. This loan 
accrues interest at the prime lending rate from time 
to time. Interest will start accruing once the BEE 
Trust starts issuing shares to employees.

Lease premiums are paid in advance on land leases 
that have a duration of between 35 and 50 years.

16. GOODWILL

Made up as follows:

– cost 6 6

– impairment — —

– Net book value 6 6

There has been no movement in the balance in  
the current and previous !nancial year.

17. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets 11 8

Deferred tax liabilities (8) (6)

3 2

The deferred tax balance is made up as follows:

Opening

balance

Rm’s

Charged

through

statement of

comprehensive

income

Rm’s

Closing

balance

Rm’s

Deferred tax asset:

 Accruals 7 (1) 6

 Property, plant and equipment 2 4 6

 Assessed loss 2 # 2

Deferred tax liability:

 Property, plant and equipment (9) (2) (11)

 Prepayments # # #

Net deferred tax asset 2 1 3

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when the income tax relates to the same legal entity or !scal authority.

The tax rate applied to South African entities is 28% (2011: 28%) for normal taxation and 10% (2010: 11%) for STC. Australian entities are taxed 
at 30% (2011: 30%).

#Less than R1 million.



Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012

88 Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

18. INVENTORIES

Finished goods and merchandise 339 241

Inventory losses recognised as an expense totalled 
R9 million for the year (2011: R8 million). This  
expense is included in the general and administration 
expenses line item on the face of the statement of 
comprehensive income.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 101 101

Sundry debtors# 25 34

454 450 Amounts owing by subsidiary

454 450 126 135

#Includes prepayments, deposits and rebates receivable.

For terms and conditions relating to Group related-party receivables, refer to note 34.

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 30-day terms.

The fair value approximates the carrying value due to the short-term nature of these balances.

The amounts owing by subsidiary represent amounts owing by Italtile Ceramics Limited. These amounts are unsecured, carry no interest and 
are payable on demand. Outstanding balances are settled from time to time based on the cash "ow requirements of the various entities.

As at 30 June 2012, trade receivables at nominal value of R3 million (2011: R3 million) were impaired and fully provided for. Movements in the 
provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

Total

Rm’s

At 30 June 2010 4

Charge for the year (1)

At 30 June 2011 3

Utilised during the year #

Raised during the year #

At 30 June 2012 3

#Less than R1 million.

As at 30 June 2012, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due, not impaired

Total

Rm’s

Current (not

impaired)

Rm’s

30 – 60

days

Rm’s

60 – 90

days

Rm’s

> 90 days

Rm’s

2012 101 93 4 2 2

2011 101 96 1 1 3

Allowances have been raised on debt older than 90 days.
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4 1 Cash at banks and on hand 154 193

Cash equivalents 763 646

4 1 917 839

Cash at banks earns interest at "oating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash 
equivalents are made for varying periods of 
between one day and three months, depending  
on immediate cash requirements of the Group,  
and earn interest at the respective short-term 
deposit rates.

The fair value approximates the carrying value due 
to the short-term nature of these balances.

21. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

3 300 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

Issued

818 818
1 033 332 822 (2010: 1 033 332 822) ordinary 
shares of no par value 818 818

Number of shares in issue to external parties:

1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822 Total shares in issue 1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822

Treasury shares: Share incentive trust (26 290 909) (26 290 909)

 BEE transaction (88 000 000) (88 000 000)

1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822 In issue to external parties 919 041 913 919 041 913

All unissued shares are under the control of the 
directors until the next annual general meeting.

Capital

Redemption

Reserve Fund

Aircraft

revaluation

Foreign

currency

translation

reserve Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

22. NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Balance as at 30 June 2010 9 6 35 50

Translation of foreign entities 7 7

Aircraft devaluation (6) (6)

Balance as at 30 June 2011 9 — 42 51

Translation of foreign entities 31 31

Balance as at 30 June 2012 9 — 73 82
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

23. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND 

BORROWINGS

Loans

Rand

The loan bears interest at prime less 2% per 
annum and is repayable on 9 July 2013. The loan 
is secured by a cession of all shares and claims in 
Allmuss Properties (Pty) Limited. 300 300

Australian dollars

Loans secured by a !rst mortgage over  
property that has a current value of R72 million 
(2011: R64 million). 41 31

The !rst loan of R26 million bears interest at  
8,4% per annum, and matures on 5 October 2012. 
The second loan of R9 million bears interest of 
6,5% per annum, and matures on 2 December 2014.

The third loan of R6 million bears interest at 6,17% 
per annum, and matures on 19 December 2014.

341 331

Current portion of interest-bearing debt (26) (10)

Non-current portion of interest-bearing debt 315 321

The fair value of the long-term borrowings 
approximates the carrying value, as the current 
market rates of interest do not differ materially  
from those speci!ed in the loan agreements.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 168 152

3 2 Accruals/other payables 56 65

3 2 224 217

For terms and conditions relating to related parties, 
refer to note 34.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are 
normally settled on 30-day terms.

Accruals/other payables are mostly non-interest-
bearing and have an average term of three months.

The fair value of all trade and other payables 
approximates the carrying value, due to the 
short-term nature of these balances.
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Leave pay

Incentive

bonus Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

25. PROVISIONS

Balance as at 30 June 2010 9 25 34

Provision utilised (2) (10) (12)

Provision raised 3 6 9

Balance as at 30 June 2011 10 21 31

Provision utilised (1) (16) (17)

Provision raised 4 21 25

Balance as at 30 June 2012 13 26 39

Leave pay is provided on accumulated leave balances at year end based on employees’ cost to company.

Provision for incentive bonus is expected to be realised when bonuses are paid in the 2013 !nancial year, and is based on terms as dictated 
in employment contracts (subject to the !nal approval from management).

COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

26. JOINT VENTURE

The Group has a 50% interest in Ser Export s.p.a, 
a company incorporated in Italy.

Impact on Group statement of financial position

Current assets 39 36

Non-current assets 13 14

Current liabilities (non-interest-bearing) (27) (25)

 
Impact on Group statement of comprehensive 

income

Income 52 44

Expenses (50) (43)

Impact on Group cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities 2 (7)

Cash outflow from investing activities — (1)

Cash from financing activities — —

There are no significant contingent liabilities or 
commitments in respect of this joint venture for 
which the Group is responsible (2011: nil).
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

27. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE 

TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED FROM 

OPERATIONS

143 8 Pro!t before taxation 550 461

Adjusted for:

 Depreciation 46 45

  Pro!t on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (2)

(7) (7)  Finance revenue (46) (37)

(135) —  Dividends received from subsidiary

 Finance cost 24 24

4 2
  Share-based payment expense and non-cash 

movements (3) (3)

(4) (5)  Management fee received

 Working capital changes

  Increase in inventories (98) (9)

— —
   Decrease/(increase) in trade and other 

receivables 9 (25)

1 1
   Increase in trade and other payables,  

including provisions 15 12

2 (1) Cash generated by operations 496 466

28. TAXATION PAID

1 1 Net amount prepaid/(unpaid) at beginning of year 7 19
(8) (10) Charged per statement of comprehensive income (155) (130)

Deferred tax expense 2 2
# (1) Net amount prepaid at end of year (15) (7)

(7) (10) Amounts paid (161) (116)

#Less than R1 million.

29. DIVIDENDS PAID

(134) (114) Charged per statement of changes in equity (119) (101)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (12) (8)

(134) (114) Amounts paid (131) (109)

  
30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Melkbos (Pty) Limited

In March 2012 the Group elected to convert interest-bearing amounts advanced to an Australian property holding 
company, Melkbos (Pty) Limited to equity. The decision to capitalise the loans is consistent with the Group’s policy on 
property investment, and resulted in the Group acquiring an 83% interest in the company.

The fair value of net assets acquired and accounted for from the effective date comprise the following: R’m

Land and buildings 50

Sundry receivables 1

Sundry payables (1)

Commercial bills (6)

Cash and bank 3

Cost of business acquired 47

Less amounts previously advanced and cash acquired (11)

Net cash out"ow in 2012 36

From the effective date of the business combination, the company has made a negligible contribution to Group earnings.

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure for land and buildings, 
computer equipment and other !xed assets:

Contracted 62 27

Authorised but not contracted for 64 83

126 110

Capital expenditure will be financed from own 
resources.

Operating lease commitments

Refer to note 5 for details of lease commitments.

Litigation

Refer to page 65 of the directors’ report for details of legal proceedings instituted against a subsidiary of the Group.

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group participates in the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund. This is an umbrella fund arrangement created for the provision of 
retirement benefits. The fund is a defined-contribution plan and is governed by the Pension Fund Act No 24 of 1956.

The financial position of the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (Provident Section): Italtile Limited is currently reviewed on a monthly basis. 
As at 30 June 2012, the fund was found to be in a sound financial position.

At 30 June 2012, 949 (2011: 870) employees of the Group and Franchises were members of the Fund, to which the Group contributed 
R15 million (2011: R14 million) and the employees Rnil (2011: Rnil).

The Fund is open to all permanent staff with their participation thereof being a condition of employment. Their dependants are eligible for 
death benefits accruing from the Fund in the event of the member’s death. All permanent full-time employees of franchise stores are 
required to participate in the Fund.

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Group

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and trade payables. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets, such as trade receivables and cash 
and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit 
risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. The Group’s 
primary objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows.

Company

The Company’s principal !nancial liabilities, comprise loans given to subsidiary companies and the BEE Trust. The Company’s !nancial 
assets comprise cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its investments.

The main risk arising from the Company’s !nancial instruments are cash "ow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk. The Board of 
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

The Company’s primary objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash "ows.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s and Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the finance revenue generating 
ability of cash surpluses, servicing of Group long-term loans due to floating interest rates and preference shares held by the Company. To 
manage this risk, management constantly review cash placements and contract in financial expertise to ensure preferential interest rates 
are obtained for surplus funding.

As part of the process of managing the Group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings are positioned according 
to expected movements in interest rates.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Australian dollar denominated loans (refer to note 23) attract a fixed rate of interest whereas the rand denominated loan bears interest 
at a floating rate. The following table demonstrates the Group’s sensitivity to a change in interest rates with all other variables held constant, 
of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact of floating rate borrowings): 

2012 2011

Group Rm’s Rm’s

+1% 5 4

–1% (5) (4)

The Company is not sensitive to "uctuations in interest rates.

Full details of interest rates relating to borrowings are detailed in note 23.

Foreign currency risk

As the Group operates in various countries and undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, exposures to foreign currency 
"uctuations arise.

Approximately 15% (2011: 16%) of cost of sales are denominated in the currencies other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group 
requires all of its operating units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual transaction for 
which payment is anticipated on terms after the Group has entered into a !rm commitment for a purchase, for which no letter of credit 
has been issued. The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item. It is the Group’s policy not to enter 
into forward contracts until a !rm commitment is in place.

It is the Group’s policy not to apply hedge accounting, or to trade in derivatives.

Forward exchange contracts outstanding at the reporting date all fall due within four months (2011: three months), have a settlement value  
of R12 million (2011: R12 million) and are denominated in euros with average exchange rates of R10,65: €1 (2011: R9,96: €1 and  
R6,83: US$1).

Exchange rates utilised to convert financial information are as follows:

          2012           2011

Weighted

average rate

for the year

Closing

rate

Weighted
average rate
for the year

Closing
rate

ZAR: Australian $ 7,99:1 8,40:1 6,90:1 7,24:1

ZAR: Botswana pula 1,05:1 1,06:1 1,03:1 1,04:1

ZAR: Euro 10,38:1 10,45:1 9,53:1 9,82:1

ZAR: Kenyan shilling 0,09:1 0,10:1 0,08:1 0,07:1

ZAR: US$ 7,75:1 8,27:1 6,99:1 6,83:1
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The exposure and concentration of the Group’s foreign currency risk is included in the table below.

South

 African

Rand

Australian

Dollar Euro US Dollar Other* Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

2012

Financial assets

Investments — — 4 — — 4

Trade and other receivables 88 3 26 1 8 126

Cash and cash equivalents 832 6 11 31 37 917

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (300) (41) — — — (341)

Trade and other payables (174) (9) (28) (2) (11) (224)

2011

Financial assets

Investments — — 4 — — 4

Trade and other receivables 100 2 25 1 7 135

Cash and cash equivalents 712 20 9 60 38 839

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (300) (31) — — — (331)

Trade and other payables (177) (6) (26) # (8) (217)

#Less than R1 million.

*Other includes the Botswana pula, Kenyan shilling, Namibian dollar, Zambian kwacha and the Lesotho loti.

The Company has no exposure to foreign currency risk.

No foreign currency sensitivity analysis has been prepared, as at this stage the Group pro!t’s sensitivity to "uctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates is not signi!cant. This assessment will be revisited in future.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously.

Group

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms 
are subject to credit veri!cation procedures, and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance is purchased. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not signi!cant. The maximum 
exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 19. There is no signi!cant concentration of credit risk within the Group.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other !nancial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and available-
for-sale !nancial investments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments, as disclosed in note 20.

Company

With respect to credit risk arising from the cash and cash equivalents trade and other receivables, BEE loans and preference shares, the 
Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of 
these instruments, as disclosed in notes 14.1, 15 and 20. There is no provision for bad debts against this balance and no impairments 
recorded, other than those disclosed.

Liquidity risk

Group

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of 
both its !nancial liabilities and !nancial assets and projected cash "ows from operations.

Adequate cash reserves are invested in a dividend income fund in order to match the repayment pro!le of the secured rand loan.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and "exibility through the use of bank overdrafts and !nance 
leases.

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The table below summarises the maturity pro!le of the Group’s !nancial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted payments.

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to
12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 30 June 2012 Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings — 6 42 318 — 366

Trade and other payables — 224 — — — 224

— 230 42 318 — 590

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to
12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 30 June 2011 Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings — 6 27 325 — 358

Trade and other payables — 217 — — — 217

— 223 27 325 — 575

The Group has cash and cash equivalents of R917 million (2011: R839 million), and unutilised credit facilities of R45  million 
(2011: R45 million) in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

Company

The Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity 
of both its !nancial liabilities and !nancial assets and projected cash "ows from investments. 

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The Company has cash and cash equivalents of R4,1 million (2011: R1,4 million), and no credit facilities. All liabilities are current.

Capital management

Group

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios in order to 
support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure (equity attributable to the equity holders) and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue 
new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The Group’s business model is such that the operations ensure a consistent cash "ow. This source is used to !nd expansion and business 
growth. In addition, R300 million !nancing raised by the Group in 2008, which was due for settlement on 9 July 2011 was rolled over with 
terms as disclosed in note 23.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is de!ned as interest-bearing debt and borrowings as a percentage of equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Interest-bearing debt and borrowings 341 331

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 1 931 1 637

Gearing ratio (%) 18 20

In addition, consideration is given to Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE. The Group !nalised a BEE transaction to sell 10,7% of the 
Group’s ordinary share capital to a BEE consortium which includes Italtile’s black staff. All conditions precedent were met on  
22 February 2008 and 88 000 000 ordinary shares were issued. The BEE transaction ful!ls an important component of Italtile’s BEE 
strategy which was initiated with enterprise development and the introduction of black-owned franchisees, following which the Group met 
all its employment equity targets. With the achievement of these key elements of broad-based BEE, the Group is now well positioned to 
access segments of the market from which it was previously precluded.

Refer to note 6 for disclosure relating to the modi!cation of the BEE transaction.

Company

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure (equity attributable to the equity holders) and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The Company monitors capital using liquidity ratio analysis:

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Current assets (excluding loans to subsidiaries) 4 2

Current liabilities (excluding loans from  subsidiaries) 3 2

Current ratio (times) 1,3 1,0

In addition, consideration is given to Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE as disclosed above.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Group

The Group is controlled by Rallen (Pty) Limited which owns 53,9% (2011: 53,9%) of its issued share capital. The Group purchases product from 
Rallen (Pty) Limited’s subsidiary, Ceramic Industries Limited, and its associate Ezee Tile. In addition, the Company pays Rallen (Pty) Limited for  
directors’ remuneration.

Other related parties listed are related due to the sharing of key management personnel.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured, interest-free and settlement 
occurs in cash on 30-day terms. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related-party receivables or payables. For  
the year ended 30 June 2012, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties  
(2011: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt expense in the current year (2011: Rnil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

    Aggregate value
    of transactions

    Balances owing
    at year end

Related party
Nature of  
transactions

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Ceramic Industries Limited Inventory purchases 397 332 22 16

Ezee Tile Inventory purchases 114 88 9 8

Rallen (Pty) Limited Management fees 1 1 # #

Key management personnel comprise only the Board of Directors. Remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group is 
therefore detailed in the directors’ report (refer to pages 62 and 63). No balances were owing at year end (2011: nil).

#Less than R1 million.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Company

The Company owns 100% of the issued share capital of Italtile Ceramics Limited and receives dividends and management fees from its 
subsidiary.

The Company receives preference share dividends from Four Arrow Investments 256 (Pty) Limited and Arrow Creek Investments  
74 (Pty) Limited. These are special purpose entities set up as part of the BEE transaction.

The Company receives interest from the loan to the Italtile Empowerment Trust. This entity was set up by the Company’s Board of 
Directors as part of the BEE transaction. No interest has been received or accrued as no shares have been issued by the Italtile 
Empowerment Trust as yet.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related-party 
receivables or payables. For the year ended 30  June 2012, the Company has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating  
to amounts owed by related parties (2011: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt expense in the current year (2011: Rnil). This assessment  
is undertaken each !nancial year through examining the !nancial position of the related party and the market in which the related  
party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

Aggregate value
of transactions

Balance owing
at year end

2012 2011 2012 2011

Related party Nature of transactions Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Arrow Creek Investments 74  
(Pty) Limited Preference share dividends 3 3 94 94

Four Arrows Investments 256  
(Pty) Limited Preference share dividends 5 4 124 124

Italtile Empowerment Trust Interest — — 66 70

Italtile Ceramics Limited Dividends and management fees 139 5 454 450

Refer to notes 6, 14, 15 and 19 for further disclosure relating to terms of balances owing at year end.

Key management personnel comprise only the Board of Directors. Remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Company is 
therefore detailed in the Directors’ report (refer to pages 62 and 63). No balances were owing at year end (2011: nil).

35. SEGMENT REPORT

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identi!ed on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The chief 
operating decision-maker has been identi!ed as the Board of Directors.

On this basis, the Group has four operating segments:

Segment Nature of business

Retail  – Retailers of tiles, taps, laminate "ooring, sanitaryware and accessories.

Franchising  – Bearer of South African and non-South African trademarks.

Properties  – Property investments.

Supply and support services  – Distributor of taps, laminate "ooring, accessories, and tiling tools.

 – Group administration and management services. 

 – Outsourced debtor solutions.

 – Aircraft charter.

 – Procurement.

All intersegmental transactions are concluded at arm’s length.
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35. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The following measures, as included in the quarterly management report reviewed by the chief decision-makers, are used to assess  
performance:

Income measures (Rm’s) Retail Franchising Properties

Supply 

and 

support 

services

 Inter- 

group 

eliminations Group

2012

Turnover 1 451 — — 939 (545) 1 845

Gross margin 535 — — 105 — 640

Other income* 20 207 192 111 (210) 320

Overheads (467) (94) (44) (42) 210 (437)

Trading pro!t 88 113 148 174 — 523

2011

Turnover 1 190 — — 684 (353) 1 521

Gross margin 452 — — 88 — 540

Other income* 15 174 160 108 (171) 286

Overheads (390) (87) (33) (39) 171 (378)

Trading pro!t 77 87 127 157 — 448

*Other income includes franchise fees, rentals, royalties and rebates received, as well as pro!t or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Asset measures (Rm’s) Retail Franchising Properties

Supply 

and 

support 

services

Provisions 

and

 inter- 

group 

eliminations Group

2012

Inventory 239 — — 156 (56) 339

Trade receivables # 15 20 109 (43) 101

2011

Inventory 164 — — 127 (50) 241

Trade receivables 6 13 20 93 (31) 101

#Less than R1 million.

Geographical segment information has not been disclosed as adequate information in this regard is not readily available and preparation 
thereof would entail undue cost and effort.

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to page 64 of the directors’ report for details of subsequent events relating to:

   Offer to Ceramic Industries Limited

   Black Economic Empowerment transaction
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 1.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

1.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis, adjusted for the fair valuing of 
certain assets and liabilities. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated and separate !nancial statements.

The following standards and interpretations are effective for the current !nancial year but did not have an impact on the Group 
(which includes the consolidated and separate !nancial statements) for the year ended 30 June 2012:

  IFRS 1 – Amendment to IFRS 1 – Severe hyperin�ation and removal of �xed dates for �rst-time adopters. 

  IFRS 7– Amendment to IFRS 7 – Transfers of �nancial assets.

  IAS 24 – Related party disclosures (revised).

  IFRIC 14 – Amendment to IFRIC 14 – Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement.

  May 2010 improvements to IFRS.

The !nancial statements are presented in South African rands and all values are rounded to the nearest million (R’000 000), except 
where otherwise indicated.

1.3 Judgements and estimates

The preparation of !nancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a signi!cant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next !nancial year, relates to the following:

Inventory obsolescence provision

The Group determines whether there is obsolete inventory on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the expected future 
saleability of inventory items based on historical experience, an analysis of market and fashion trends and a review of the ageing of 
the inventory items. Details pertaining to carrying values and write-offs are provided in note 18.

Impairment of land and buildings

The Group determines whether any of the land and buildings are impaired at each reporting date. This requires consideration of 
the current and future economic and trading environment; available valuation information and the physical state of the land and 
buildings, to ascertain if there are indications of impairment to those owned by the Group. No impairments were recorded during 
the current !nancial year, and carrying values are disclosed in note 13.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 
at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity 
instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them. The assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 6. The carrying value of the share option reserve at year end is 
R9 million (2011: R5 million) and expense recognised for the year is R4 million (2011: R11 million).

1.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated !nancial statements incorporate the results and !nancial position of the Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, 
the Share Incentive Trust, the BEE Trust and its joint venture interests.
Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has the 
power to exercise control over the operations. The results of subsidiaries are included from the effective dates of acquisition, being 
the dates on which the Group obtains control, until the dates that control ceases. The identi!able assets and liabilities of companies 
acquired are assessed and included in the statement of !nancial position at their fair values as at the effective dates of acquisition.
All intragroup balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and dividends are 
eliminated in full.

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2012
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.4 Basis of consolidation (continued)

All companies in the Group maintain consistent accounting policies and have the same year ends.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of pro!t or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately 
in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of !nancial position, separately from 
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a de!cit balance. 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it:
   derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
   derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
 derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
 recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
 recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
 recognises any surplus or de!cit in pro!t or loss; and
  reclassi!es the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to pro!t or loss or retaining 
earnings, as appropriate.

Joint ventures are those enterprises over which the Group exercises joint control in terms of a contractual agreement. Investments 
in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by way of the proportionate consolidation method whereby the Group’s proportional 
share of the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash "ows of joint ventures are combined on a line-by-line basis, with similar 
items in the !nancial statements of the Group. Adjustments are made in the Group’s consolidated !nancial statements to eliminate 
the Group’s share of intragroup balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the 
Group and its jointly controlled entities. The results of joint ventures are included from the effective dates of their acquisition and up 
to the effective dates of their disposal, or a date on which joint control ceases.

1.5 Business combinations and goodwill

New acquisitions are included in the Group’s !nancial statements using the acquisition method whereby the assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The purchase consideration is allocated on the basis of fair values at the date 
of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost and represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identi!able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill carried in the 
statement of !nancial position is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently, if  events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to bene!t from the 
acquisition. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which the goodwill 
relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
Where goodwill forms part of the cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of, is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal of that operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained.

1.6 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures (as accounted for on an entity level within the Group)

Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and 
including acquisition charges associated with the investment. Investments are carried at cost, less impairment.
The carrying value of the subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment at every reporting date. Where necessary, the value of the 
investment is impaired to the greater of the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use.
The difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of investments is charged to pro!t or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

1.7 Treasury shares

Shares in Italtile Limited held by the Group are classi!ed in equity attributable to equity holders of the parent as treasury shares. 
These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. Dividends received on treasury 
shares are eliminated on consolidation. No gain or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s listed shares is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Consideration received or paid with regards to treasury shares is recognised 
in equity.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Foreign currencies

The consolidated and separate !nancial statements are presented in rands, which is the Group’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the !nancial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional currency rates prevailing 
at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date.

All differences are taken to pro!t or loss with the exception of all monetary items that provide an effective hedge for a net investment 
in a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the net investment, at which time 
they are recognised in the income statement. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary 
items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The Group has investments in foreign subsidiary companies which are classi!ed as foreign operations with functional currencies 
that are different to that of the Group. The !nancial statements of these subsidiaries are translated for incorporation into the Group 
!nancial statements as follows:

   Assets and liabilities at the rates ruling at the reporting date.

   Statement of comprehensive income items at a weighted average rate for the period.

   Cash "ow items at a weighted average rate for the period.

   Equity items at the appropriate historical rate.

Exchange differences are taken directly to a foreign currency translation reserve which is disclosed in other comprehensive income 
in the statement of comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in other 
comprehensive income, relating to that particular foreign entity, is recognised in pro!t or loss.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

All buildings, including investment properties, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

A valuation to open market value for existing use is done on an annual basis for disclosure and impairment purposes.

All plant and equipment, excluding aircraft, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

Aircraft are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are done with suf!cient regularity to ensure that the 
carrying amount at the reporting date does not differ materially from its fair value. Any surplus arising on revaluation is recognised within 
other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a previous de!cit recognised in pro!t or loss. Any de!cit arising 
on revaluation is recognised in pro!t or loss, except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The asset revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings on derecognition of the underlying asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis estimated to write each asset down to estimated residual value over the term 
of its useful life at the following annual rates:

   Buildings 2%

   Plant and machinery 20% to 25%

   Vehicles 20% to 25%

    Computer equipment 20% to 33,3%

   Furniture and !ttings 16,6% to 33,3%

   Aircraft 20%

Depreciation commences when the asset is available for use. The useful lives, methods of depreciation and residual values are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each !nancial year end. Land is not depreciated.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash in"ows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash "ows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that re"ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks speci!c to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.
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1.9 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. In addition, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic bene!ts are expected from 
its use or disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and the net 
disposal proceeds and are taken to the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised. 

1.10 Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less the estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined on a weighted average 
cost method and excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

1.11 Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside pro!t or loss is recognised outside pro!t or loss. Current tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided on the liability method, on recognised temporary differences at tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, other than in the circumstances described below. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that taxable pro!t will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward or unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, other than in the circumstances described below. Furthermore, deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 
The carrying amount is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suf!cient taxable pro!t will be available to allow the 
bene!t of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes 
probable that suf!cient taxable pro!t will be available.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where they arise from goodwill arising on acquisition or from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting pro!t nor taxable pro!t or loss.
Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside pro!t or loss is recognised outside pro!t or loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Secondary tax on companies (STC)

STC is provided in respect of expected dividend payments, net of dividends received or receivable, and is recognised as a taxation 
charge in the year in which the dividend is declared. Where applicable, non-resident shareholders’ taxation is provided in respect 
of foreign dividends receivable. In prior !nancial periods, to the extent that it was probable that entities within the Group with STC 
credits would declare dividends of its own against which unused STC credits could be utilised, a deferred tax asset was raised.

Offset of tax assets and liabilities 

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

Value added tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

   where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the VAT 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense items, as applicable; and

   receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of !nancial position.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of speci!c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in pro!t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when 
the signi!cant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer. It excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect 
taxes.

Revenue from !xed property rental is turnover-related and recognised when the sale of goods, takes place.

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis which takes into account the effective yield on the asset over the period it is 
expected to be held.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Revenue from franchise income and royalties is recognised on the accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the agreement.

Flight income is recognised when the services are delivered. It excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

1.14 Employee bene!ts

Retirement bene�ts

Defined-contribution plan

Current contributions to the retirement bene!t plan are the best estimate of current service costs and are charged against income 
as services are rendered by the employee.

1.15 Equity participation plan

Selected employees, including directors, of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options, whereby they render 
services in exchange for rights over shares. The cost of share options is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black-Schöles option-pricing model, further details of which are given in 
note 6. In valuing the share options, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price 
of the shares of Italtile Limited.

The cost of the share options is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, over the vesting period 
ending on the date on which the performance conditions are ful!lled and the employees become fully entitled to take up the share 
options. The cumulative expense recognised for share options granted at each reporting date until the vesting date, re"ects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of share option grants that will ultimately vest in the opinion of the 
directors of the Group, at that date. This is based on the best available estimate of the number of share options that will ultimately 
vest. No expense is recognised for share options that do not ultimately vest.

Where the terms of the share options are modi!ed, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modi!ed. 
In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transactions, as a result of the modi!cation, as measured 
at the date of modi!cation.

Where a share option is forfeited prior to vesting, any expense previously recognised for the award is reversed immediately. Where 
an award is cancelled, other than an award cancelled by forfeiture when the vesting conditions are not satis!ed, it is treated as 
if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised, is recognised immediately. If a new share option 
is substituted for the cancelled share option, and designated as a replacement share option on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new share option grant are treated as if they were a modi!cation of the original grant, as described above.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is re"ected as a share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share (refer to 
note 10).
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1.16 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of !nancial position comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale 
investments, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Classi�cation

The Group’s !nancial assets and !nancial liabilities are classi!ed as follows:

Description of asset/liability Classi!cation

Investments Available-for-sale

Loan to BEE Trust Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings Financial liability carried at amortised cost

Trade and other payables Financial liability carried at amortised cost

Measurement

All !nancial instruments are recognised at the time the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair values. Directly attributable transaction costs are included in the fair value, unless 
it is classi!ed as fair value through pro!t or loss. The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated 
from host contracts when the Group !rst becomes party to the contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms 
of the contract that signi!cantly modi!es the cash "ows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

Investments that are considered available-for-sale !nancial assets are carried at fair value, except for unlisted equity investments 
which are carried at cost as a reliable measure of fair value cannot be determined. All movements are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, until the investment is derecognised or determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in pro!t or loss. Objective evidence of impairment would 
include a signi!cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its carrying value. If an available-for-sale asset 
is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current 
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, is transferred from other 
comprehensive income to pro!t or loss. Reversals of impairment recognised previously in respect of equity instruments classi!ed 
as available-for-sale are not recognised in pro!t or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents that have a !xed maturity date are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest 
rates.

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative !nancial assets with !xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, trade and other receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when trade and other receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well 
as through the amortisation process. In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made where there is objective 
evidence (such as probability of insolvency or signi!cant !nancial dif!culties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect 
all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectable. If there is objective evidence 
that an impairment loss on other receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash "ows (excluding future expected 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the !nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in pro!t or loss.

Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in pro!t or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Derivative �nancial instruments

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to manage its risks associated with foreign currency "uctuations. It is the Group’s 
policy not to trade in derivative !nancial instruments. Details of the Group’s !nancial risk management objectives and policies are 
set out in note 33.

All derivative !nancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Any gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative !nancial instrument to fair value is 
recognised immediately in pro!t or loss.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity pro!les.

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.16 Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of �nancial instruments

Financial assets

A !nancial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a !nancial asset or part of a group of similar !nancial assets) is derecognised when:

   the rights to receive cash "ows from the asset have expired;

     the Group retains the right to receive cash "ows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

    the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash "ows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash "ow from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay.

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash settled option or similar 
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that 
the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar provision) 
on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities

A !nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing !nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender of substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modi!ed, such an exchange or modi!cation is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Offset of �nancial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are set off against each other where there is an intention to settle the amounts simultaneously, and a 
currently enforceable legal right of set-off exists.

1.17 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date, of whether the ful!lment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a speci!c asset or assets, or the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset.

Group as a lessee

Assets leased in terms of agreements, which are considered to be !nance leases, are capitalised. Leases are classi!ed as !nance 
leases where substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an asset are transferred from the lessor to the 
Group, as lessee. Assets subject to !nance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, 
if lower, at the minimum lease payments, with the related lease obligation recognised at the same value. Capitalised leased assets 
are depreciated at the same rates and on the same basis as equivalent owned assets. Should there be no reasonable expectation 
that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the depreciation period is the shorter of the estimated useful life of 
the asset and the lease term. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (ie the higher 
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell), it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, based on the value in use 
or fair value less costs to sell. Lease !nance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases, using the effective interest rate 
method and re"ected in !nance cost in the statement of comprehensive income.

All other leases are treated as operating leases and the relevant rentals are charged to pro!t or loss on a straight-line basis.

Group as a lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and bene!ts of ownership of the asset, are classi!ed as 
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period 
in which they are earned.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.18 Dividends paid

Dividends paid are recognised as appropriations of reserves in the statement of changes in equity at the dates of declaration.

1.19 Investment in associate

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has 
signi!cant in"uence.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of !nancial position at cost plus post acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of comprehensive income re"ects the share of the results of operations of the associate in pro!t or loss. Where there 
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses 
this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The share of pro!t of an associate is included in pro!t or loss. This is the pro!t attributable to equity holders of the associate and 
therefore is pro!t after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The !nancial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment 
loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment  
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in pro!t  
or loss.

Upon loss of signi!cant in"uence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair value. 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of signi!cant in"uence and the fair value of the retaining 
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in pro!t or loss.

1.20 Standards issued but not yet effective

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s !nancial statements are listed below. This listing is 
of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends 
to adopt those standards when they become effective. The Group expects that adoption of these standards, amendments and 
interpretations in most cases not to have any signi!cant impact on the Group’s !nancial position or performance in the period of 
initial application but additional disclosures will be required. In cases where it will have an impact the Group is still assessing the 
possible impact.

IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation (Amendment)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 and requires that items of other comprehensive 
income be grouped in items that would be reclassi!ed to pro!t or loss at a future point and items that will never be reclassi!ed. This 
amendment only effects the presentation in the !nancial statements.

IAS 12 – Income Taxes (Amendment)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and introduces a rebuttable presumption that 
deferred tax on investment properties measured at fair value will be recognised on a sale basis, unless an entity has a business 
model that would indicate the investment property will be consumed in the business. If consumed, a use basis should be adopted. 
This amendment will have no impact on the Group after initial application.

IAS 19 – Post Employee Bene�ts (Amendment)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. There are changes to post employee 
bene!ts in that pension surpluses and de!cits are to be recognised in full (no more deferral mechanisms) and all actuarial gains and 
losses recognised in other comprehensive income as they occur with no recycling to pro!t or loss. Past service costs as a result of 
plan amendments are to be recognised immediately.

Short and long-term bene!ts will now be distinguished based on the expected timing of settlement, rather than employee entitlement.

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements

IAS 27, as revised, is limited to the accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate !nancial 
statements of the investor. The revision is a consequence of the issue of IFRS 10, and the standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.20 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The revised standard caters for joint ventures (now accounted for by applying the equity accounting method) in addition to 
prescribing the accounting for investments in associates. The revision is a consequence of the issue of IFRS 10 and 11, and the 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IAS 32 – Financial instruments: Presentation (Amendment)

The amendment clari!es the meaning of the entity currently having a legally enforceable right to set off !nancial assets and !nancial 
liabilities as well as the application of IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as clearing houses). The amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and will have no impact on the Group.

IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures (Amendment)

The amendment provides additional disclosures with regards to offsetting !nancial assets and !nancial liabilities (similar to 
current US GAAP requirements), is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will have no impact on 
the Group.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classi�cation and Measurement

IFRS 9 as issued re"ects the !rst phase of the IASBs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classi!cation and 
measurement of !nancial assets and liabilities as de!ned in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015. In subsequent phases, the Board will address impairment and hedge accounting. The adoption of the !rst 
phase of IFRS 9 will primarily have an effect on the classi!cation and measurement of the Group’s !nancial assets and liabilities. The 
Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 9, however, the impact of adoption depends on the assets and liabilities 
held by the Group at the date of adoption, it is not practical to quantify the effect.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for 
consolidated !nancial statements. It also includes the issues raised in SIC 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 
establishes a single control model with a new de!nition of control that applies to all entities. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The changes will require management to make signi!cant judgement to determine 
which entities are controlled and therefore required to be consolidated by the parent. Therefore, IFRS 10 may change which entities 
are within the Group.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures and SIC 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. 
IFRS 11 uses the principle of control in IFRS 10 to determine joint control which may change whether joint control exists. IFRS 
11 addresses only two forms of joint arrangements; joint operations where the entity recognises its assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses and/or its relative share of those items and joint ventures which is accounted for on the equity method (no more 
proportional consolidation). The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and the impact on 
the Group can not be determined at this point.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities

IFRS 12 includes all the disclosures that were previously required relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities as well as a number of new disclosures. An entity is now required to disclose the judgements 
made to determine whether it controls another entity. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. 

The Group will need to consider the new de!nition of control to determine which entities are controlled or jointly controlled and then 
to account for them under the new standards. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for all fair value measurement (!nancial and non-!nancial assets and liabilities) when fair 
value is required or permitted by IFRS. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value but rather describes 
how to measure fair value under IFRS when it is permitted or required by IFRS. There are also consequential amendments to other 
standards to delete speci!c requirements for determining fair value. The Group will need to consider the new requirements to 
determine fair values going forward. IFRS 13 will be effective for the Group 1 July 2013.

The Group and Company are still in the process of assessing the impact of the Annual Improvements Project issued in May 2012.



79Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

2. DEFINITIONS

2.1 System-wide turnover

Aggregated turnover of the Group-owned and franchised stores.

2.2 Cost of sales

Cost of sales is calculated as the weighted average cost of inventory, including distribution costs incurred in bringing the inventory 
to the retail locations together with stock losses. 

2.3 Sales and distribution costs

Sales and distribution costs include costs incurred in bringing inventory to the retail locations and ensuring the saleability thereof.

2.4 General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses are those overhead expenses that have not been allocated to inventory valuation.

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalent amounts comprise cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks and highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insigni!cant changes in value.

2.6 Treasury shares

Shares in Italtile Limited held by the entities in the Group.

2.7 Cash-generating unit

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identi!able group of assets that generates cash in"ows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash in"ows from other assets or groups of assets.

 
COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

3. REVENUE

Total revenue comprises:

Turnover 1 845 1 521

Rental income 101 91

7 7 Finance revenue 46 37

135 — Dividend income from subsidiaries

Royalty income from franchising 89 78

Other franchise income 32 27

Flight income — 1

4 5 Management fee

146 12 2 113 1 755

Turnover represents net sales, excluding value 
added tax and intercompany sales.

All the rental income pertains to properties that 
are leased to franchised stores. These rentals 
are turnover related and can therefore not be 
predetermined.

4. COST OF SALES

Cost of sales consists largely of the cost of 
inventories recognised as an expense. 1 113 895
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

5. TRADING PROFIT

Trading pro!t is stated after taking into account 
the following items:

Auditors’ remuneration

# # – Audit fee 3 3

# # – Expenses # #

# # 3 3

Depreciation

Owned and leased

– Buildings 11 8

– Plant and machinery 7 7

– Vehicles 3 2

– Aircraft — #

– Computer equipment 5 3

– Furniture and !ttings 20 25

46 45

Operating lease payments

– Properties 15 15

All the operating leases pertain to properties 
that are rented and then sublet to Group-owned 
and franchised stores. The subrentals are based 
on 6,3% of turnover and can therefore not be 
predetermined. At current levels they exceed 
abovementioned obligations.

Contingent lease payments were determined, based 
on escalated contractual rentals charged by third 
parties. Certain leases have renewal terms. There 
are no trading restrictions on any of the leases.

Total of future minimum contracted operating 
lease payments:

 Within 1 year 7 11

 Within 2 – 5 years 11 8

 Later than 5 years 2 2

20 21

Directors’ emoluments

Refer to pages 62 and 63 of the directors’ report 
for detailed disclosures.

Employee remuneration

–  Salaries and wages 115 93

  – Pro!t share 15 22

– Contributions to retirement bene!ts 10 8

140 123

Other

Pro!t on sale of property, plant and equipment 1 2

#Less than R1 million.

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012



81Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Incentive Trust

In terms of the Share Incentive Trust, shares are offered on a combined option and deferred sale basis. Options vest over a period of !ve 
years. An agreement of deferred sale is automatically constituted on acceptance of the offer. All shares must be taken up by way of a 
purchase and delivery by no later than !ve years after the grant date. The exercise price of the option is not less than the market value of 
the ordinary shares on the day prior to the date of grant and the option is exercisable provided that the participant has remained in the 
Group’s employ until the option vests. Should the participant resign before these vesting dates, the options will be forfeited. An exception 
may be made in the case of termination of employment as a result of death or retirement. Options are settled in equity once exercised and 
subsequently taken up.

In terms of a resolution passed at a shareholders’ meeting on 12 January 1993, the directors are authorised to make available 
for the purposes of the scheme a maximum aggregate number of 136  470  068 ordinary shares (2010: 136 470 068), representing  
13% (2010: 13%) of the issued share capital. The scheme exists for the directors and senior management of the Company with a limit of 
15 400 000 shares which any one participant may acquire.

The following assumptions were used in valuing the various option grants on grant date:

Expected volatility 18% to 24%
Risk-free interest rate 8,19% to 8,54%
Expected dividend yield 1,90% to 2,07%
Expected life (years) 5,5

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and expected future trends and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns 
that may occur. The expected volatility of 18% to 24% reflects the assumption that the historical volatilities of 18% to 24% are indicative 
of future trends.

No share options were granted over the year to 30 June 2012 (2011: nil). Included in the expenses in the profit and loss for the year is 
Rnil (2011: Rnil) relating to the current year share option expense for the Share Incentive Trust.

All outstanding allocations were fully redeemed in 2010, with the redemption of 2 310 000 share allocations at an average subscription 
price of R2,39 per share. There were no further movements in 2011 or 2012.

 Had the participant resigned from the Group prior to the commencement dates as indicated above, the shares for options would not have 
been awarded, payment not required and the options forfeited.

Black Economic Empowerment transaction

The Company issued 88 000 000 shares in terms of a Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE, transaction on 11 February 2008. 
The shares were issued at R4,57 per share, which represented a discount of 17% to the volume weighted average price of the Company’s 
shares over the month of March 2007. The transaction was funded by way of the Company subscribing to preference shares in the 
empowerment vehicles. These preference shares attract dividends at a rate of 70% of the prevailing prime interest rate. Any dividends 
paid on the Company’s shares to the empowerment vehicles will be !rstly used to fund the preference share dividends payable to the 
Company, and then to redeem a portion of the outstanding preference shares.

The BEE partners may not sell or otherwise encumber the shares for a period of seven years, after which the Company will have the pre-
emptive right to reacquire the shares at 83% of the trade weighted average price at which the Company’s shares traded on the JSE during 
the 10-trading days immediately preceding the date of purchase. The Company may force a repurchase of the shares after eight years 
have elapsed, again at 83% of the trade weighted average price at which its shares traded on the JSE during the 10-trading days 
immediately preceding the date of purchase. The cash proceeds from this sale will be used to settle any remaining obligations in terms of 
the preference shares.

For further details on this transaction, refer to the circular dated 20 June 2007.

The economic substance of this transaction is that the BEE partners have received an equity-settled call option over the Italtile Limited 
shares, which matures in eight years’ time. The cost of the transaction has been valued accordingly by using a Monte Carlo simulation 
model and using the following inputs:

Share price R3,03

Exercise price R4,57

Volatility 28%

Time to maturity 8 years

Risk-free interest rate 9,89%

Prime interest rate 13,21%

Dividend yield 2%

The model is not particularly sensitive to the risk-free and prime interest rate assumptions, as any change in the one would generally be 
offset by a change in the other. The predicted volatility is based on an analysis of the historic Italtile Limited share price volatility, over the 
last seven years.

The total cost of the transaction was determined as R25 million, which was recognised in the 2008 !nancial year (no additional costs have 
subsequently been recognised).

As disclosed in the directors’ report on page 64, amendments to the BEE transaction were approved by shareholders after the 2012 
!nancial year end.
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6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Long-term incentive plan

During the 2010 !nancial year, a long-term incentive plan was adopted by the Company, in accordance with which selected directors and 
employees of the Group are entitled to receive notional share awards. These awards vest as follows: 25% after three years, and 75% after 
!ve years. The exercise price is determined in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The plan has been classi!ed as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and has been fair valued using a modi!ed  
Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the notional awards on grant dates:

Grant date 14 August 2009 1 October 2010

Notional share award 4 850 000 2 200 000

Share price on grant date R3,35 R3,70

Interest rate (source: Standard Bank) Zero yield curve (7,06% – 8,36%) Zero yield curve (5,98% – 7,28%)

Dividend R0,11 per share per annum R0,11 per share per annum

The movement in the number of awards during the years is as follows:
Number of awards

2012 2011

At 1 July 4 500 000 4 850 000

Awarded during the year — 2 200 000

Vested and exercised during the year — (2 275 000)

Cancelled during the year — (275 000)

At 30 June 4 500 000 4 500 000

The exercise price of awards exercised during the previous year was R4,12 per award.

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 1,97 years (2011: 2,97 years).

The fair value of the awards granted over the previous year to 30 June 2011 was R7 million. Included in the expenses in the pro!t and 
loss for the year is R3 million (2011: R11 million) relating to the current year share-based payment expense for this scheme.

Share appreciation rights scheme

During the 2011 !nancial year, a share appreciation rights scheme was adopted by the Company, in accordance with which selected 
directors and employees of the Group are entitled to receive notional share awards. These awards vest as follows: 25% after three years, 
and 75% after !ve years. The exercise price is determined in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The plan has been classi!ed as an equity-settled share-based payment scheme and has been fair valued using a modi!ed  
Black-Schöles model. The following assumptions and inputs were used in valuing the notional awards on grant dates:

Grant date 1 October 2010 1 September 2011

Notional share award 500 000 3 050 000

Grant price R3,56 R4,21

Interest rate (source: Standard Bank) Zero yield curve (6,57% – 7,11%) Zero yield curve (5,71% – 6,39%)

Dividend yield 2,66% 2,66%

The movement in the number of awards during the years is as follows:
Number of 

awards

2012

At 1 July —

Awarded during the year 3 550 000

Vested and exercised during the year —

Cancelled during the year —

At 30 June 3 550 000

The weighted average vesting period of awards outstanding at year end is 3,62 years.

The fair value of the awards granted over the previous year to 30 June 2012 was R2,4 million. Included in the expenses in the pro!t and 
loss for the year is R0,5 million relating to the current year share-based payment expense for this scheme.
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7. FINANCE REVENUE

Bank interest receivable 12 12

Dividends from cash equivalents 34 25

7 7 Dividend income from special purpose entities

7 7 Total !nance revenue 46 37

8. FINANCE COST

Bank loans and overdraft 24 23

Finance charges payable under !nance leases — 1

Total !nance cost 24 24

9. TAXATION

Current taxation

1 1 – Normal tax (including foreign taxes) 144 117

— — – Deferred tax 2 2

7 9 – Secondary tax on companies 9 11

8 10 155 130

% % Reconciliation of tax rate % %

28,0 28,0 Standard tax rate – South Africa 28,0 28,0

Adjusted for:

(27,8) (22,5) Exempt income (1,7) (1,5)

0,5 5,5
Other differences, including effect of foreign tax 
rates and prior period over/under provisions 0,2 (1,2)

4,9 107,7 Secondary tax on companies 1,7 2,4

5,6 118,7 Effective tax rate 28,2 27,7

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share 
is based on the income attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of R378 million (2011: R321 million).

The calculation of earnings per share is based on 
919 032 041 (2010: 919 995 338) weighted 
average number of shares in issue during the 
period, excluding weighted average treasury 
shares.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is 
based on:

Weighted average number of shares in issue for 
basic earnings per share 919 032 041 919 995 338

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares resulting from 
options outstanding 3 618 139 2 291 715

Weighted average number of shares for diluted 
earnings per share 922 650 180 922 287 053
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11. HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of headline and diluted headline 
earnings per share is based on the income 
attributable to ordinary shareholders – as used in 
the calculation for basic earnings, adjusted in 
terms of Circular 3/2012, “Headline Earnings”.

Reconciliation of headline and diluted headline 

earnings

Basic earnings 378 321

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (2)

 Gross amount (1) (2)

 Taxation # #

  Share attributable to non-controlling 
shareholders — —

Headline and diluted headline earnings 377 319

#Less than R1 million.

Refer to note 10 for further details and calculations 
related to weighted average number of shares and 
diluted weighted average number of shares used 
to calculate headline and diluted headline earnings 
per share.

12a DIVIDENDS PAID IN THE CURRENT YEAR

62 52 Final 2011 – No 90

Paid 2012: 5 cents per share (2011: 5 cents) 55 46

Interim 2012 – No 91

72 62 Paid 2012: 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents) 64 55

134 114 Total – 13 cents per share (2011: 11 cents per share) 119 101

12b DIVIDENDS DECLARED IN RELATION TO 

CURRENT YEAR PROFIT

Interim – No 91

72 62 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents per share) 64 55

Final – No 92

72 62 7 cents per share (2011: 6 cents per share) 64 55

144 124 Total – 14 cents per share (2011: 12 cents per share) 128 110
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Land and

buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and

machinery

Rm’s

Vehicles

Rm’s

Computer

equipment

Rm’s

Furniture

and !ttings

Rm’s

Total 

Rm’s

13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2012

Owned and leased

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 953 49 13 33 179 1 227

–  accumulated depreciation (29) (32) (5) (19) (136) (221)

– net book value 924 17 8 14 43 1 006

Current year movements

– additions 124 5 8 7  26 170

– disposals (2) (1) (1) (1) # (5)

– depreciation (11) (7) (3) (5) (20) (46)

– translation 27 1 # 1 # 29

Balance at end of year 1 062 15 12 16 49 1 154

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 1 102 54 18 40 203 1 417

–  accumulated depreciation (40) (39) (6) (24) (154) (263)

– net book value 1 062 15 12 16 49 1 154

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

#Less than R1 million.

 Buildings with a cost of R856 million were valued on 30 June 2011 by independent professional valuers (authorised and registered in terms 
of the Property Valuers Professional Act No 47 of 2000), to a replacement value for existing use of R1,2 billion.

 A register of the Group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the Company’s registered of!ce.

Land and
buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and
machinery

Rm’s
Vehicles

Rm’s
Aircraft

Rm’s

Computer
equipment

Rm’s

Furniture
and !ttings

Rm’s
Total 
Rm’s

2011

Owned and leased

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 868 44 9 31 21 166 1 139

–  accumulated depreciation (21) (27) (3) (1) (17) (118) (187)

– net book value 847 17 6 30 4 48 952

Current year movements

– additions 88 6 5 — 13 23 135

– devaluation — — — (8) — — (8)

– disposals (8) # (1) (22) # (3) (34)

– depreciation (8) (7) (2) # (3) (25) (45)

– translation 5 1 # — # # 6

Balance at end of year 924 17 8 — 14 43 1 006

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 953 49 13 — 33 179 1 227

–  accumulated depreciation (29) (32) (5) — (19) (136) (221)

– net book value 924 17 8 — 14 43 1 006

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

#Less than R1 million.

The aircraft was revalued on 31 January 2011 by the Pilatus Centre Southern Africa, using the information of the Aviation Blue Book.



Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012

86 Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

14.1 INVESTMENTS

Unlisted

8 8 Investment in subsidiaries

13 9 Equity instruments – at cost 4 4

218 218 Preference shares

239 235 Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments 4 4

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment. A list of subsidiaries 
appears on page 100 .

Unlisted equity instruments have no reliable 
measure of fair value as  there is no active trading 
market for these instruments, therefore these 
investments are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment.

The fair value of the unlisted preference shares 
approximates the carrying amount as these 
instruments attract a "oating rate of interest.

14.2 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

During the previous !nancial year, the Group 
began accounting for an existing investment in 
Ezee Tile, a national manufacturer of adhesive, 
grout and related products, in accordance with the 
equity accounting requirements of IAS 28 – 
Investments in associates. Management is of 
the opinion that signi!cant in"uence over the 
operations of Ezee Tile was attained during the 
previous !nancial year, triggering the requirement 
to apply equity accounting for such.

Cost 15 15

Share of pro!ts, post commencement of equity 
accounting 9 7

24 22

The following tables illustrate the summarised 
!nancial information of the Group’s investment  
in Ezee Tile:

Statement of �nancial position:

Non-current assets 9 6

Current assets 73 66

Non-current liabilities (1) (1)

Current liabilities (34) (23)

Equity 47 48

Statement of comprehensive income:

Turnover 319 238

Pro!t for the year 11 21

Pro!t attributable to ordinary shareholders of  
Italtile Limited 5 8

Less: Dividends (3) (1)

Share of associated companies’ income 2 7
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15. LONG-TERM ASSETS

66 70 Loan to BEE Trust

Lease premiums 24 24

66 70 24 24

In order to raise funds necessary to purchase  
BEE shares (refer to note 6), the Company has 
funded the BEE Trust by way of a loan. This loan 
accrues interest at the prime lending rate from time 
to time. Interest will start accruing once the BEE 
Trust starts issuing shares to employees.

Lease premiums are paid in advance on land leases 
that have a duration of between 35 and 50 years.

16. GOODWILL

Made up as follows:

– cost 6 6

– impairment — —

– Net book value 6 6

There has been no movement in the balance in  
the current and previous !nancial year.

17. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets 11 8

Deferred tax liabilities (8) (6)

3 2

The deferred tax balance is made up as follows:

Opening

balance

Rm’s

Charged

through

statement of

comprehensive

income

Rm’s

Closing

balance

Rm’s

Deferred tax asset:

 Accruals 7 (1) 6

 Property, plant and equipment 2 4 6

 Assessed loss 2 # 2

Deferred tax liability:

 Property, plant and equipment (9) (2) (11)

 Prepayments # # #

Net deferred tax asset 2 1 3

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when the income tax relates to the same legal entity or !scal authority.

The tax rate applied to South African entities is 28% (2011: 28%) for normal taxation and 10% (2010: 11%) for STC. Australian entities are taxed 
at 30% (2011: 30%).

#Less than R1 million.
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

18. INVENTORIES

Finished goods and merchandise 339 241

Inventory losses recognised as an expense totalled 
R9 million for the year (2011: R8 million). This  
expense is included in the general and administration 
expenses line item on the face of the statement of 
comprehensive income.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 101 101

Sundry debtors# 25 34

454 450 Amounts owing by subsidiary

454 450 126 135

#Includes prepayments, deposits and rebates receivable.

For terms and conditions relating to Group related-party receivables, refer to note 34.

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 30-day terms.

The fair value approximates the carrying value due to the short-term nature of these balances.

The amounts owing by subsidiary represent amounts owing by Italtile Ceramics Limited. These amounts are unsecured, carry no interest and 
are payable on demand. Outstanding balances are settled from time to time based on the cash "ow requirements of the various entities.

As at 30 June 2012, trade receivables at nominal value of R3 million (2011: R3 million) were impaired and fully provided for. Movements in the 
provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

Total

Rm’s

At 30 June 2010 4

Charge for the year (1)

At 30 June 2011 3

Utilised during the year #

Raised during the year #

At 30 June 2012 3

#Less than R1 million.

As at 30 June 2012, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due, not impaired

Total

Rm’s

Current (not

impaired)

Rm’s

30 – 60

days

Rm’s

60 – 90

days

Rm’s

> 90 days

Rm’s

2012 101 93 4 2 2

2011 101 96 1 1 3

Allowances have been raised on debt older than 90 days.
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4 1 Cash at banks and on hand 154 193

Cash equivalents 763 646

4 1 917 839

Cash at banks earns interest at "oating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash 
equivalents are made for varying periods of 
between one day and three months, depending  
on immediate cash requirements of the Group,  
and earn interest at the respective short-term 
deposit rates.

The fair value approximates the carrying value due 
to the short-term nature of these balances.

21. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

3 300 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

Issued

818 818
1 033 332 822 (2010: 1 033 332 822) ordinary 
shares of no par value 818 818

Number of shares in issue to external parties:

1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822 Total shares in issue 1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822

Treasury shares: Share incentive trust (26 290 909) (26 290 909)

 BEE transaction (88 000 000) (88 000 000)

1 033 332 822 1 033 332 822 In issue to external parties 919 041 913 919 041 913

All unissued shares are under the control of the 
directors until the next annual general meeting.

Capital

Redemption

Reserve Fund

Aircraft

revaluation

Foreign

currency

translation

reserve Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

22. NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Balance as at 30 June 2010 9 6 35 50

Translation of foreign entities 7 7

Aircraft devaluation (6) (6)

Balance as at 30 June 2011 9 — 42 51

Translation of foreign entities 31 31

Balance as at 30 June 2012 9 — 73 82
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

23. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND 

BORROWINGS

Loans

Rand

The loan bears interest at prime less 2% per 
annum and is repayable on 9 July 2013. The loan 
is secured by a cession of all shares and claims in 
Allmuss Properties (Pty) Limited. 300 300

Australian dollars

Loans secured by a !rst mortgage over  
property that has a current value of R72 million 
(2011: R64 million). 41 31

The !rst loan of R26 million bears interest at  
8,4% per annum, and matures on 5 October 2012. 
The second loan of R9 million bears interest of 
6,5% per annum, and matures on 2 December 2014.

The third loan of R6 million bears interest at 6,17% 
per annum, and matures on 19 December 2014.

341 331

Current portion of interest-bearing debt (26) (10)

Non-current portion of interest-bearing debt 315 321

The fair value of the long-term borrowings 
approximates the carrying value, as the current 
market rates of interest do not differ materially  
from those speci!ed in the loan agreements.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 168 152

3 2 Accruals/other payables 56 65

3 2 224 217

For terms and conditions relating to related parties, 
refer to note 34.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are 
normally settled on 30-day terms.

Accruals/other payables are mostly non-interest-
bearing and have an average term of three months.

The fair value of all trade and other payables 
approximates the carrying value, due to the 
short-term nature of these balances.
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Leave pay

Incentive

bonus Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

25. PROVISIONS

Balance as at 30 June 2010 9 25 34

Provision utilised (2) (10) (12)

Provision raised 3 6 9

Balance as at 30 June 2011 10 21 31

Provision utilised (1) (16) (17)

Provision raised 4 21 25

Balance as at 30 June 2012 13 26 39

Leave pay is provided on accumulated leave balances at year end based on employees’ cost to company.

Provision for incentive bonus is expected to be realised when bonuses are paid in the 2013 !nancial year, and is based on terms as dictated 
in employment contracts (subject to the !nal approval from management).

COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

26. JOINT VENTURE

The Group has a 50% interest in Ser Export s.p.a, 
a company incorporated in Italy.

Impact on Group statement of financial position

Current assets 39 36

Non-current assets 13 14

Current liabilities (non-interest-bearing) (27) (25)

 
Impact on Group statement of comprehensive 

income

Income 52 44

Expenses (50) (43)

Impact on Group cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities 2 (7)

Cash outflow from investing activities — (1)

Cash from financing activities — —

There are no significant contingent liabilities or 
commitments in respect of this joint venture for 
which the Group is responsible (2011: nil).
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

27. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE 

TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED FROM 

OPERATIONS

143 8 Pro!t before taxation 550 461

Adjusted for:

 Depreciation 46 45

  Pro!t on sale of property, plant and equipment (1) (2)

(7) (7)  Finance revenue (46) (37)

(135) —  Dividends received from subsidiary

 Finance cost 24 24

4 2
  Share-based payment expense and non-cash 

movements (3) (3)

(4) (5)  Management fee received

 Working capital changes

  Increase in inventories (98) (9)

— —
   Decrease/(increase) in trade and other 

receivables 9 (25)

1 1
   Increase in trade and other payables,  

including provisions 15 12

2 (1) Cash generated by operations 496 466

28. TAXATION PAID

1 1 Net amount prepaid/(unpaid) at beginning of year 7 19
(8) (10) Charged per statement of comprehensive income (155) (130)

Deferred tax expense 2 2
# (1) Net amount prepaid at end of year (15) (7)

(7) (10) Amounts paid (161) (116)

#Less than R1 million.

29. DIVIDENDS PAID

(134) (114) Charged per statement of changes in equity (119) (101)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (12) (8)

(134) (114) Amounts paid (131) (109)

  
30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Melkbos (Pty) Limited

In March 2012 the Group elected to convert interest-bearing amounts advanced to an Australian property holding 
company, Melkbos (Pty) Limited to equity. The decision to capitalise the loans is consistent with the Group’s policy on 
property investment, and resulted in the Group acquiring an 83% interest in the company.

The fair value of net assets acquired and accounted for from the effective date comprise the following: R’m

Land and buildings 50

Sundry receivables 1

Sundry payables (1)

Commercial bills (6)

Cash and bank 3

Cost of business acquired 47

Less amounts previously advanced and cash acquired (11)

Net cash out"ow in 2012 36

From the effective date of the business combination, the company has made a negligible contribution to Group earnings.

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2012
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COMPANY GROUP

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure for land and buildings, 
computer equipment and other !xed assets:

Contracted 62 27

Authorised but not contracted for 64 83

126 110

Capital expenditure will be financed from own 
resources.

Operating lease commitments

Refer to note 5 for details of lease commitments.

Litigation

Refer to page 65 of the directors’ report for details of legal proceedings instituted against a subsidiary of the Group.

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group participates in the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund. This is an umbrella fund arrangement created for the provision of 
retirement benefits. The fund is a defined-contribution plan and is governed by the Pension Fund Act No 24 of 1956.

The financial position of the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (Provident Section): Italtile Limited is currently reviewed on a monthly basis. 
As at 30 June 2012, the fund was found to be in a sound financial position.

At 30 June 2012, 949 (2011: 870) employees of the Group and Franchises were members of the Fund, to which the Group contributed 
R15 million (2011: R14 million) and the employees Rnil (2011: Rnil).

The Fund is open to all permanent staff with their participation thereof being a condition of employment. Their dependants are eligible for 
death benefits accruing from the Fund in the event of the member’s death. All permanent full-time employees of franchise stores are 
required to participate in the Fund.

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Group

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and trade payables. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets, such as trade receivables and cash 
and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit 
risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. The Group’s 
primary objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows.

Company

The Company’s principal !nancial liabilities, comprise loans given to subsidiary companies and the BEE Trust. The Company’s !nancial 
assets comprise cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its investments.

The main risk arising from the Company’s !nancial instruments are cash "ow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk. The Board of 
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

The Company’s primary objective of risk management is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash "ows.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s and Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the finance revenue generating 
ability of cash surpluses, servicing of Group long-term loans due to floating interest rates and preference shares held by the Company. To 
manage this risk, management constantly review cash placements and contract in financial expertise to ensure preferential interest rates 
are obtained for surplus funding.

As part of the process of managing the Group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings are positioned according 
to expected movements in interest rates.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Australian dollar denominated loans (refer to note 23) attract a fixed rate of interest whereas the rand denominated loan bears interest 
at a floating rate. The following table demonstrates the Group’s sensitivity to a change in interest rates with all other variables held constant, 
of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact of floating rate borrowings): 

2012 2011

Group Rm’s Rm’s

+1% 5 4

–1% (5) (4)

The Company is not sensitive to "uctuations in interest rates.

Full details of interest rates relating to borrowings are detailed in note 23.

Foreign currency risk

As the Group operates in various countries and undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, exposures to foreign currency 
"uctuations arise.

Approximately 15% (2011: 16%) of cost of sales are denominated in the currencies other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group 
requires all of its operating units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual transaction for 
which payment is anticipated on terms after the Group has entered into a !rm commitment for a purchase, for which no letter of credit 
has been issued. The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item. It is the Group’s policy not to enter 
into forward contracts until a !rm commitment is in place.

It is the Group’s policy not to apply hedge accounting, or to trade in derivatives.

Forward exchange contracts outstanding at the reporting date all fall due within four months (2011: three months), have a settlement value  
of R12 million (2011: R12 million) and are denominated in euros with average exchange rates of R10,65: €1 (2011: R9,96: €1 and  
R6,83: US$1).

Exchange rates utilised to convert financial information are as follows:

          2012           2011

Weighted

average rate

for the year

Closing

rate

Weighted
average rate
for the year

Closing
rate

ZAR: Australian $ 7,99:1 8,40:1 6,90:1 7,24:1

ZAR: Botswana pula 1,05:1 1,06:1 1,03:1 1,04:1

ZAR: Euro 10,38:1 10,45:1 9,53:1 9,82:1

ZAR: Kenyan shilling 0,09:1 0,10:1 0,08:1 0,07:1

ZAR: US$ 7,75:1 8,27:1 6,99:1 6,83:1
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The exposure and concentration of the Group’s foreign currency risk is included in the table below.

South

 African

Rand

Australian

Dollar Euro US Dollar Other* Total

Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

2012

Financial assets

Investments — — 4 — — 4

Trade and other receivables 88 3 26 1 8 126

Cash and cash equivalents 832 6 11 31 37 917

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (300) (41) — — — (341)

Trade and other payables (174) (9) (28) (2) (11) (224)

2011

Financial assets

Investments — — 4 — — 4

Trade and other receivables 100 2 25 1 7 135

Cash and cash equivalents 712 20 9 60 38 839

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (300) (31) — — — (331)

Trade and other payables (177) (6) (26) # (8) (217)

#Less than R1 million.

*Other includes the Botswana pula, Kenyan shilling, Namibian dollar, Zambian kwacha and the Lesotho loti.

The Company has no exposure to foreign currency risk.

No foreign currency sensitivity analysis has been prepared, as at this stage the Group pro!t’s sensitivity to "uctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates is not signi!cant. This assessment will be revisited in future.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously.

Group

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms 
are subject to credit veri!cation procedures, and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance is purchased. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not signi!cant. The maximum 
exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 19. There is no signi!cant concentration of credit risk within the Group.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other !nancial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and available-
for-sale !nancial investments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments, as disclosed in note 20.

Company

With respect to credit risk arising from the cash and cash equivalents trade and other receivables, BEE loans and preference shares, the 
Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of 
these instruments, as disclosed in notes 14.1, 15 and 20. There is no provision for bad debts against this balance and no impairments 
recorded, other than those disclosed.

Liquidity risk

Group

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of 
both its !nancial liabilities and !nancial assets and projected cash "ows from operations.

Adequate cash reserves are invested in a dividend income fund in order to match the repayment pro!le of the secured rand loan.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and "exibility through the use of bank overdrafts and !nance 
leases.

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The table below summarises the maturity pro!le of the Group’s !nancial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted payments.

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to
12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 30 June 2012 Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings — 6 42 318 — 366

Trade and other payables — 224 — — — 224

— 230 42 318 — 590

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to
12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 30 June 2011 Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings — 6 27 325 — 358

Trade and other payables — 217 — — — 217

— 223 27 325 — 575

The Group has cash and cash equivalents of R917 million (2011: R839 million), and unutilised credit facilities of R45  million 
(2011: R45 million) in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

Company

The Company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds arising by using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity 
of both its !nancial liabilities and !nancial assets and projected cash "ows from investments. 

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

The Company has cash and cash equivalents of R4,1 million (2011: R1,4 million), and no credit facilities. All liabilities are current.

Capital management

Group

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios in order to 
support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure (equity attributable to the equity holders) and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue 
new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The Group’s business model is such that the operations ensure a consistent cash "ow. This source is used to !nd expansion and business 
growth. In addition, R300 million !nancing raised by the Group in 2008, which was due for settlement on 9 July 2011 was rolled over with 
terms as disclosed in note 23.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is de!ned as interest-bearing debt and borrowings as a percentage of equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Interest-bearing debt and borrowings 341 331

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 1 931 1 637

Gearing ratio (%) 18 20

In addition, consideration is given to Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE. The Group !nalised a BEE transaction to sell 10,7% of the 
Group’s ordinary share capital to a BEE consortium which includes Italtile’s black staff. All conditions precedent were met on  
22 February 2008 and 88 000 000 ordinary shares were issued. The BEE transaction ful!ls an important component of Italtile’s BEE 
strategy which was initiated with enterprise development and the introduction of black-owned franchisees, following which the Group met 
all its employment equity targets. With the achievement of these key elements of broad-based BEE, the Group is now well positioned to 
access segments of the market from which it was previously precluded.

Refer to note 6 for disclosure relating to the modi!cation of the BEE transaction.

Company

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure (equity attributable to the equity holders) and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The Company monitors capital using liquidity ratio analysis:

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Current assets (excluding loans to subsidiaries) 4 2

Current liabilities (excluding loans from  subsidiaries) 3 2

Current ratio (times) 1,3 1,0

In addition, consideration is given to Black Economic Empowerment, or BEE as disclosed above.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Group

The Group is controlled by Rallen (Pty) Limited which owns 53,9% (2011: 53,9%) of its issued share capital. The Group purchases product from 
Rallen (Pty) Limited’s subsidiary, Ceramic Industries Limited, and its associate Ezee Tile. In addition, the Company pays Rallen (Pty) Limited for  
directors’ remuneration.

Other related parties listed are related due to the sharing of key management personnel.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured, interest-free and settlement 
occurs in cash on 30-day terms. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related-party receivables or payables. For  
the year ended 30 June 2012, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties  
(2011: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt expense in the current year (2011: Rnil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

    Aggregate value
    of transactions

    Balances owing
    at year end

Related party
Nature of  
transactions

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

2012

Rm’s

2011
Rm’s

Ceramic Industries Limited Inventory purchases 397 332 22 16

Ezee Tile Inventory purchases 114 88 9 8

Rallen (Pty) Limited Management fees 1 1 # #

Key management personnel comprise only the Board of Directors. Remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Group is 
therefore detailed in the directors’ report (refer to pages 62 and 63). No balances were owing at year end (2011: nil).

#Less than R1 million.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Company

The Company owns 100% of the issued share capital of Italtile Ceramics Limited and receives dividends and management fees from its 
subsidiary.

The Company receives preference share dividends from Four Arrow Investments 256 (Pty) Limited and Arrow Creek Investments  
74 (Pty) Limited. These are special purpose entities set up as part of the BEE transaction.

The Company receives interest from the loan to the Italtile Empowerment Trust. This entity was set up by the Company’s Board of 
Directors as part of the BEE transaction. No interest has been received or accrued as no shares have been issued by the Italtile 
Empowerment Trust as yet.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related-party 
receivables or payables. For the year ended 30  June 2012, the Company has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating  
to amounts owed by related parties (2011: Rnil) nor incurred any bad debt expense in the current year (2011: Rnil). This assessment  
is undertaken each !nancial year through examining the !nancial position of the related party and the market in which the related  
party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

Aggregate value
of transactions

Balance owing
at year end

2012 2011 2012 2011

Related party Nature of transactions Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Arrow Creek Investments 74  
(Pty) Limited Preference share dividends 3 3 94 94

Four Arrows Investments 256  
(Pty) Limited Preference share dividends 5 4 124 124

Italtile Empowerment Trust Interest — — 66 70

Italtile Ceramics Limited Dividends and management fees 139 5 454 450

Refer to notes 6, 14, 15 and 19 for further disclosure relating to terms of balances owing at year end.

Key management personnel comprise only the Board of Directors. Remuneration paid to key management personnel of the Company is 
therefore detailed in the Directors’ report (refer to pages 62 and 63). No balances were owing at year end (2011: nil).

35. SEGMENT REPORT

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identi!ed on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The chief 
operating decision-maker has been identi!ed as the Board of Directors.

On this basis, the Group has four operating segments:

Segment Nature of business

Retail  – Retailers of tiles, taps, laminate "ooring, sanitaryware and accessories.

Franchising  – Bearer of South African and non-South African trademarks.

Properties  – Property investments.

Supply and support services  – Distributor of taps, laminate "ooring, accessories, and tiling tools.

 – Group administration and management services. 

 – Outsourced debtor solutions.

 – Aircraft charter.

 – Procurement.

All intersegmental transactions are concluded at arm’s length.



99Italtile Limited integrated annual report 2012

35. SEGMENT REPORT (continued)

The following measures, as included in the quarterly management report reviewed by the chief decision-makers, are used to assess  
performance:

Income measures (Rm’s) Retail Franchising Properties

Supply 

and 

support 

services

 Inter- 

group 

eliminations Group

2012

Turnover 1 451 — — 939 (545) 1 845

Gross margin 535 — — 105 — 640

Other income* 20 207 192 111 (210) 320

Overheads (467) (94) (44) (42) 210 (437)

Trading pro!t 88 113 148 174 — 523

2011

Turnover 1 190 — — 684 (353) 1 521

Gross margin 452 — — 88 — 540

Other income* 15 174 160 108 (171) 286

Overheads (390) (87) (33) (39) 171 (378)

Trading pro!t 77 87 127 157 — 448

*Other income includes franchise fees, rentals, royalties and rebates received, as well as pro!t or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Asset measures (Rm’s) Retail Franchising Properties

Supply 

and 

support 

services

Provisions 

and

 inter- 

group 

eliminations Group

2012

Inventory 239 — — 156 (56) 339

Trade receivables # 15 20 109 (43) 101

2011

Inventory 164 — — 127 (50) 241

Trade receivables 6 13 20 93 (31) 101

#Less than R1 million.

Geographical segment information has not been disclosed as adequate information in this regard is not readily available and preparation 
thereof would entail undue cost and effort.

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to page 64 of the directors’ report for details of subsequent events relating to:

   Offer to Ceramic Industries Limited

   Black Economic Empowerment transaction
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Subsidiaries

Book value of interest

Issued share 
capital

  % held   Shares
  Amounts
  owing to

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

R Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Held by Italtile Limited

RETAILING

Italtile Ceramics Limited 36 383 670 100 100 1 1 454 450

    Issued share
    capital

    Effective %
    shareholding

2012

R

2011
R

2012 2011

Held by subsidiaries

FRANCHISING

Italtile Franchising (Pty) Limited 1 000 1 000 100 100
Italtile (Franchising) Pty Limited9 4 4 66 66
Italtile Mauritius (Pty) Limited1 1 589 1 589 100 100
PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Allmuss Properties (Pty) Limited 1 500 1 500 100 100
Allmuss (Botswana) (Pty) Limited2 4 651 4 651 100 100
Allmuss Properties Namibia (Pty) Limited3 1 100 1 100 100 100
Allmuss Lesotho (Pty) Limited4 1 000 1 000 100 100
Allmuss Properties Kenya Limited5 4 108 4 108 100 100
Allmuss Properties (Uganda) Limited6 5 825 590 5 825 590 55 55
Allmuss Properties Zambia Limited7 188 600 188 600 55 55
Emerald Sky Trading 736 (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100
F. B. Ashman (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100
Penates Logistics (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100
Magnolia Ridge Properties 291 (Pty) Limited 15 000 000 15 000 000 50 50
Melkbos Pty Limited9 7 346 541 83

Norstrom Pty Limited9 9 149 000 9 149 000 66 66
SUPPORT SERVICES

Cladding Finance (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100
Earlyworks 191 (Pty) Limited — 100 — 100
International Tap Distributors (Pty) Limited 210 210 71 79
Majuba Aviation (Pty) Limited 12 339 876 12 339 876 100 100
Ser Export s.p.a.8 37 546 37 546 53,5 53,5
Cedar Point Trading 326 (Pty) Limited 1 000 1 000 55 55
RETAILING

Ceramic Tile Projects (Pty) Limited 100 100 40 40
CTM Kenya Limited5 3 446 3 446 100 100
Italtile Australia Pty Limited9 57 849 956 57 849 956 66 66
Italtile Floorings Pty Limited9 80 591 80 591 66 66
Italtile Retail (Pty) Limited 1 000 1 000 55 55
Orban Investments 375 (Pty) Limited3 175 175 100 100
TopT Ceramics (Pty) Limited 1 000 1 000 80 80

1 Incorporated in Mauritius. 6 Incorporated in Uganda.
2 Incorporated in Botswana. 7 Incorporated in Zambia.
3 Incorporated in Namibia. 8 Incorporated in Italy (joint venture).
4 Incorporated in Lesotho. 9 Incorporated in Australia.
5 Incorporated in Kenya.


